ABSTRACT

ADOLESCENT FREE TIME ACTIVITY PARTICIPATION AND ITS RELATIONSHIP

WITH PERCEPTIONS OF PARENTING AND INTRINSIC MOTIVATION

by

Isaiah C. Lubben

December 2019

Chair: Clifton Watts, Ph.D.

Major Department: Recreation Sciences

Abstract:

The positive youth development framework emphasizes those developmental tasks and

milestones that assist youth in the successful transition to adulthood. These developmental

affordances thrive in contexts where social-emotional, physical and institutional resources e.g.,

family supports, resources, and socializing agents such as school and churches) are present. The

current study is guided by Self-Determination Theory, which recognizes the important role that

parents play in what youth do in their free time by articulating how youth internalize and value

specific free time behaviors through autonomy supportive practices. Autonomy supportive

parenting practices are those that allow youth to experience freedom and control in free time.

Parenting practices (e.g., monitoring, involvement) that lack autonomy supportive traits (e.g.,

openness, agreeableness) and involvement during free time thwart the internalization process

associated with motivation. The relationship between parents and youth is key to guiding youth

to structured experiences that aid in development (e.g., sports, extracurricular activities), as well

as making appropriate choices when faced with the prospect of unstructured free time. The

purpose of this study was to examine the relationships between autonomy support from parents, free time motivation and types of recreation participation. Specifically, this study examined activity profiles of rural youth (N=283) and found that respondents' activity patterns were either after school/sports-based or home-based in their free time. The study compared youth by activity profiles on measures of intrinsic motivation and parent autonomy support. The relationships between intrinsic motivation, age of respondents, and perceptions of autonomy support from parents were also examined. No differences were observed between the after school based and home-based activity profiles with respect to intrinsic motivation or reported levels of parent autonomy support. A relationship between parent autonomy support and free time intrinsic motivation was observed. A negative relationship between age and parent autonomy support was also found, which suggests that parents were perceived to be less autonomy supportive and involved by older children in the sample. The lack of differentiation on motivation and parenting practices between groups were contrary to previous studies, which observed that youth who participate in structured activities reported higher levels of parent autonomy support and intrinsic motivation. Consistent with the literature, there was a relationship between parenting practices and intrinsic motivation in free time. The discussion explores the uniqueness of the rural setting from which the sample was drawn. This setting and the experiences of youth in rural environments support the need to examine community resources and offer experiences to youth when constraints related to distance and family responsibilities prevent access to existing structured experiences. The study also underscores the importance of parent autonomy supportive practices regardless of free time behavioral patterns. Directions for future research are offered given the limitations of cross-sectional research and reliance on data that were collected solely from the adolescent's perspective.

ADOLESCENT FREE TIME ACTIVITY PARTICIPATION AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH PERCEPTIONS OF PARENTING AND INTRINSIC MOTIVATION

A Thesis

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Recreation Sciences

East Carolina University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of:

M.S. IN RECREATION SERVICES AND INTERVENTIONS

Concentration: Recreation and Park Administration

by

Isaiah C. Lubben

December 2019

© Copyright 2019

Isaiah C. Lubben

ADOLESCENT FREE TIME ACTIVITY PARTICIPATION AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH PERCEPTIONS OF PARENTING AND INTRINSIC MOTIVATION

by

Isaiah C. Lubben

APPROVED BY:	
DIRECTOR OF THESIS:	
	Clifton E. Watts, Ph.D.
COMMITTEE MEMBER:	
	Megan C. Janke, Ph.D.
COMMITTEE MEMBER:	
	Kindal A. Shores, Ph.D.
COMMITTEE MEMBER:	
	Natalia Sira, Ph.D., M.D.
CHAIR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF	
RECREATION SCIENCES	
	Edwin Gómez, Ph.D.
DEAN OF THE	
GRADUATE SCHOOL:	
	Paul J. Gemperline, Ph.D.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study would not have been possible without the support of my mentor, Dr. Clifton Watts. For this reason, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Watts for the continuous support of my research. His guidance propelled me through all the time of research and writing of this thesis. I could not have imagined having a better mentor and advisor for my master's thesis.

I would also like to thank the rest of my committee for their unwavering dedication and support towards my topic of choice. Without their encouragement, insightful commenting, and heavy questioning, this thesis would not have been possible. I am also grateful to all of those with whom I have had the pleasure to work during this and other related projects. Each of the members of the thesis committee have provided me with extensive personal and professional guidance and have taught me a great deal about both scientific research and life in general.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my parents, whose affection and guidance are with me in whatever I choose to pursue. I would also like to thank my friend, Alex, for accompanying me on this seemingly never-ending journey – and for providing me with unshakable friendship over the years. Most importantly, I wish to thank my loving and supportive fiancé, Aaron, who has provided me with unending inspiration and encouragement through this process.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem.	3
LITERATURE REVIEW	5
Positive Youth Development (PYD)	
Youth Leisure Activities	
Structured Leisure Activities	
Unstructured Leisure Activities	
Self-Determination Theory (SDT)	
The Internalization Process	
The Role of Parents in Internalization	
RESEARCH QUESTIONS	20
METHODOLOGY	
Study Design	
Population and Sample	
Data Collection	
Instrumentation	
Demographics	
Free time Activity Participation	
Free time Intrinsic MotivationPerceptions of Parental Autonomy Support and Involvement	
Analysis of Data	27
RESULTS	
Profile of Respondents	
Summary of Statistics for Study Measures	
Free time Leisure Activity	
Determining Free time Leisure Activity Participation Profiles	32
Cluster Analysis	
Analysis of Research Questions	37
CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION	40
Discussion	
Implications for Future Research	
Study LimitationsRecommendations for Practice	
REFERENCES	
SECTION II: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW	71
REFERENCES: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW	87
APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	96

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Characteristics of Respondents (N=303)	30
Table 2: Summary of Free time Leisure Activity Participation	32
Table 3: Principal Components Analysis of Free time Participation Items	33
Table 4: Summary of Free time Leisure Activities: Cluster Analysis	35
Table 5: Perceptions of Parents Scale Reliability	36
Table 6: Free time Intrinsic Motivation Scale Reliability	36
Table 7: Self-Reported Measures of Perceptions of Autonomy Support/	
Motivation in Free time	38
Table 8: Bivariate Correlations (Spearman's Rho) among the Study Variables	39

INTRODUCTION

The demand for positive youth development (PYD) interventions targeting adolescents has increased steadily over the last 20 years due to the structural, behavioral, and emotional concerns associated with this stage of development (Dotterweich, 2015). Upheld for their intentional positive outcome promotion strategies, PYD programs allow youth to directly engage with their family, school, and/or community (Damon, 2004). Research indicates that the more exposure adolescents have to positive resources and experiences, the more likely it is that they will develop positively (Caldwell & Witt, 2011). Therefore, social-emotional, physical and institutional resources present in the social environment (e.g., family supports, resources, and socializing agents such as school and churches) are just as essential in promoting PYD as individual assets and activities (Zarrett & Lerner, 2008).

Often utilized as a vehicle for PYD, unstructured and structured leisure activities play an integral role in an adolescent's development. The positive youth development framework contends that youth are valuable contributors to society rather than problems or burdens to be managed (Damon, 2004). However, keeping youth problem free does not make them fully prepared to take on the responsibilities of adulthood (Pittman et al., 2003). For this reason, engagement in PYD driven programs is essential for promoting development strategies that regulate the integration of behaviors that lead to a successful transition into adulthood (Oncescu, 2014; Watts & Caldwell, 2008).

Unstructured activities are those activities chosen for enjoyment and overall personal interest. Unstructured activities are often linked to low levels of engagement, experienced outside of a structured setting, and are linked to the formation and exploration of new interests and socialization (e.g., hanging out, watching television, or going to the movies). Structured

activities are those activities that are intensely engaging and supportive of personal expression (e.g., sports, volunteering, or club activities) while simultaneously supporting persistence through challenge and engagement (Shannon, 2016). While structured and unstructured activities offer unique developmental experiences, youth must be able to deal with the challenge of managing their unstructured time when left to their own devices (Caldwell & Baldwin, 2005). In other words, too much time spent in unstructured activities might be detrimental to those youths who are unprepared to handle the prospect of it.

Parents are often recognized as the most important socialization agent in the lives of youth (Hutchinson, Baldwin & Caldwell, 2003). Parents are responsible for socializing youth into leisure activities, setting boundaries and expectations on free time, providing social and emotional resources, and monitoring youth's behavior (Watts & Caldwell, 2008). However, a reality of our modern era is that many young people come from homes with two working parents.

Researchers and practitioners have emphasized the need to provide opportunities to engage youth during the gap in time when many young people are alone and unsupervised; specifically, the hours between 3 – 6 p.m., where increased incidences of risk behavior (juvenile crime, experimentation with drugs, alcohol and sex) are observed (After school Alliance, 2009). These concerns have led to the creation of after school programs through school, recreation centers and community-based agencies to support parents and families in helping youth reach their potential, minimize their exposure to risk, and ease the transition to adulthood (Watts & Shores, 2014). In order for these programs to be effective, parents and organizations who sponsor after school programs must understand how best to reach and engage youth.

Advocates of Self-Determination Theory (SDT) suggest that the process of internalization is paramount to adopting and participating in new behaviors (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Internalization is a process through which one learns to value or identify with an activity that was previously performed for an external reason (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Moody, 2012). Parents and programs are most successful in promoting internalization when supports for the basic psychological needs of autonomy, competence, and relatedness exist (Moody, 2012; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Conversely, Ryan & Deci (2000) contend that amotivation develops when psychological needs are not met. Amotivation is disadvantageous to the adoption of new behaviors and can ultimately thwart developmental progress (Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Larson, 2000). For these reasons, understanding the link between supports for basic psychological needs, motivation, and activity participation type is warranted.

Statement of the Problem

Approximately 40% of adolescents' waking hours are discretionary, which is why youth researchers place a heavy emphasis on understanding how choices in leisure time activities correlate to academic, psychological, and behavioral functioning (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). Parents play a key role in what youth do in their free time and also affect how youth internalize and value specific free time behaviors (Zabriskie and McCormick (2001). A number of studies link autonomy supportive practices to internalized and intrinsic motivation in youth (Larson, 2000; Sharp, Caldwell, Graham, & Ridenour, 2006; Smetana & Daddis, 2002).

In mainstream adolescent psychology, autonomy is traditionally defined as independence or self-reliance; that is, the extent to which one behaves, decides, or thinks without relying on others (Soenens, Petegem, & Vansteenkiste, 2017, pp. 3). Similarly, autonomy support, the extent to which parents implement structure in an autonomy-supportive versus controlling

manner, directly supports the child's need for autonomy (Grolnick et al., 2014, pp. 360).

Parenting practices (e.g., monitoring, involvement) that lack autonomy supportive traits (e.g., openness, agreeableness) and involvement during free time are more likely to be perceived by an adolescent as antagonistic of their values and opinions, thus thwarting the internalization process associated with motivation.

Adolescents' motivation to participate in free time activities is often perceived as being directly related to their perceptions of parenting practices. In situations where parents exert too much control, youth's sense of control and competence may be lacking—their choices are not their own. This has serious implications for situations where youth perceive their free time as being occupied by prescribed activities rather than voluntary ones (Larson, 2000; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). In situations where parents are not involved, youth may be pressed to find the direction and structure needed to support good choices. In either case, lacking support for autonomy is a serious roadblock to adopting and valuing behaviors that allow for developmental affordances in free time.

As underscored in the preceding paragraphs, a major problem facing adolescents today is learning how to internalize the benefits of leisure participation (Shannon, 2016). Parents play a large role in how pre-teens and adolescents participate in and experience leisure. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationships between autonomy support from parents, free time motivation and types of recreation participation.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Positive Youth Development (PYD)

Adolescence is most commonly referred to as a period of both disorientation and discovery (Bastable & Dart, 2007), and it is considered a time of unprecedented cognitive and physical growth (Siegler, 1997). Though this period is one of intense learning and development, it is also a high-risk period for impulsive behavior – and is often when the onset of mental health and substance abuse disorders occur (Winstanley, Steinwachs, Stitzer, Fishman, 2012.)

Milestones, often referred to as developmental tasks in adolescence, gradually progress through a series of frustrating starts and stops along the way (Roisman, Masten, Coatsworth, & Tellegen, 2004). Each developmental task is dependent on the accomplishment of other developmental tasks; however, many researchers see human development as a lifelong process. The transition through puberty is marked by an increased risk for the onset of a range of health-related problems, particularly those related to the control of behavior and emotion (Mundy et. al., 2013); thus, adolescence is often the focus of youth development interventions due to the structural, behavioral, and emotional concerns associated with this crucial developmental stage.

When considering adolescence, researchers typically analyze the roles, positions, and circumstances of young people in society. These roles, positions, and circumstances are often perceived from a crisis or predicament perspective. Less attention is given to young people's everyday lives and affiliations with their local communities – especially regarding recreational opportunities (Fabiansson, 2005; Farkas at al., 1997). Leisure is one of the most important aspects of youths' everyday lives and acts as an avenue for community affiliation and involvement (Cooper, 2011). It is often within the family environment, through parental interest

and engagement, where youth have a chance to explore different leisure activities (Roberts & Brodie, 1992).

PYD is often defined as an "...intentional, prosocial approach that engages youth within their communities, schools... and families in a manner that is productive and constructive" (Catalano, Berglund, Ryan, Lonczak, Hawkins, 2004; Turner, Rudz, Bertolacci, 2018, p. 50). In the current literature, PYD "...recognizes, utilizes, and enhances young people's strengths while also promoting positive outcomes for youth by providing opportunities, fostering relationships, and furnishing support needed to build their leadership strengths" (Catalano et al., 2004; Turner et al., 2018, p. 50). The term positive youth development is used in at least three different ways, referring to a natural process of development, principles, and practices (Hamilton, Hamilton, & Pittman, 2004). The principles of PYD emphasize the active support for the growing capacity of young people by organizations and individuals (Spera, 2005). The three most basic principles, and the most useful in current literature, are those which (a) place emphasis on a universal approach in which all youth thrive, (b) place importance on healthy relationships and challenging activities that endure and shift over time, and (c) place significance on the engagement of young people as participants rather than recipients (Hamilton, Hamilton, & Pittman, 2004).

Pittman, Irby, Tolman, Yohalem, and Ferber (2003) argue that simply keeping youth problem free from risk/problems does not make them fully prepared to take on the responsibilities of adulthood. Therefore, engaging youth within programs is deemed essential in accomplishing youth development. Recreation programs in the form of after school and extracurricular activities play an important role in the development of specific capacities and internal strengths that youth need for the successful transition into adulthood (Watts & Caldwell, 2008). Theories such as the Self-Determination Theory and the Theory of Reasoned Action often

guide efforts that seek to identify how youth make decisions and stay motivated regardless of structural, interpersonal, or intrapersonal constraints (Martino, Ellickson & McCaffrey, 2009).

Youth Leisure Activities

Recreation and leisure-based youth programs are typically defined through the implementation of skill-building activities that are designed to encompass youth strengths, interests, and preferences – and are primarily tasked with promoting action and accountability (Safvenbom & Samdahl, 1998; Vance, 2018). The developmental context of recreation often describes unstructured time as discretionary time. In the United States and abroad, the discretionary time period accounts for approximately forty to fifty percent of an adolescent's waking hours (Larson, 2000). This period typically includes the after school context as well as evenings and weekends – and may extend to include extracurricular activities (Neira, 2014). Often associated with discretionary time, leisure refers to the enjoyable and personally meaningful activities that occur within the discretionary time context – and is often associated with a sense of freedom and intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Although the term leisure is often used in the literature surrounding PYD, most studies are conducted within the free time or out-of-school-time context. For this reason, this time period is used as a matter of convenience for youth involvement. Rather than solely connecting adolescents to society and preventing delinquency, free time activities provide adolescents with a special opportunity to experience deep attention and consciousness regarding their actions over time (Larson & Kleiber, 1993; Malo et al., 2018; Marsh 1992; Xie et al., 2016). Comparable to work and school, free time most often entails involvement in a context (Safvenbom & Samdahl, 1998) defined through structured or unstructured activities. In other words, something is done, either alone or with someone, with or without supervision.

Structured Leisure Activities

Structured activities are those activities that are intensely engaging and supportive of personal expression (e.g., sports, volunteering, or club activities) while simultaneously supporting persistence through challenge and engagement (Shannon, 2016). Structured activities exist within a framework that offers constraints, rules, and goals (Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Larson, 2000) and are almost always monitored or supervised; however, only a select few support the development of initiative (Larson, 2000; Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003). Initiative, described as the devotion of cumulative effort over time to achieve a goal (Larson, 2000), requires intrinsic motivation experienced concurrently with concerted engagement over time (Larson, 2000; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). In order for initiative to develop, all three of these elements (i.e., intrinsic motivation, concerted engagement, devotion over time) need to converge. Activities that are voluntary and involve some structure are more likely to assist in the development of initiative than those that are involuntary and lack structure (Larson, 2000). Additionally, program structure and adult monitoring are also needed to ensure optimal youth engagement. For example, Shannon (2016) observed that dance participants were more likely to engage in continued dance routines when (a) there were opportunities for flexible participation, (b) they enjoyed of the dance experience, (c) adults provided support as needed, and (d) structured supportive environmental factors were all present during any given day. Both nonverbal and verbal support can be offered to youth as they engage in new challenges or learn new skills – resulting in the experience of small successes in the face of bigger challenges (Shannon, 2016). Subsequent activities, with adult monitoring and structure, promote the development of competence and encourage youth to stay engaged in an activity despite challenges or setbacks (Holt, 2008). Consequently, it is through this iterative process that initiative is strengthened.

Accounting for approximately 4-6 hours per week, Larson (2000) explains that sports are the most frequent activity in this category and are crucial for the development of both awareness and initiative. Larson and Kleiber (1993) found that organized activities (e.g., sports, hobbies, arts) produce higher levels of intrinsic motivation during participation than unstructured activities. Roberts (1999) posits that by the age of 16, the majority of youth have adopted some adult leisure practices. Roberts and Brodie (1992) found that those who played sports regularly at a young age, between sixteen and thirty years, became committed to the sport or structured activity and were likely to continue with the pursuit. The strongest factors for people who continue their leisure activities (i.e., structured) were involvement and parental engagement in three to four different activities during adolescence (Roberts, 1999).

The co-occurrence of motivation and awareness, in association with structured activity participation, is often supported by Gibson and Rader's (1979) definition of 'self-generated attention'. In other words, when attention is self-directed, adolescents tend to experience higher levels of intrinsic motivation – as well as increases in the level of perceived environmental control (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990; Larson & Kleiber, 1993). This optimal experience is characterized by activities in which individuals feel strong, alert, and in control (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990); therefore, the stratification of structured activities to include various subcategories is needed to fully comprehend the element of initiative.

Accounting for differences among adolescent enjoyment and engagement, the free time context is an especially important realm in which parents and peers are able to influence development. Socialization figures (i.e., parents, peers) have the ability to influence whether adolescents develop and adopt skills and competencies that support a healthy, responsible, and autonomous form of functioning – or whether they spend their time engaged in unproductive or

maladaptive ways that deter development (Hutchinson, Baldwin, & Caldwell, 2003). After school sports, extracurricular activities and programs play an important role in the development of youth. The following paragraphs illustrate this point.

First, youth who participate in sports or sport-related activities are less likely to drop out of school – and are more likely to excel in social situations (Fawcett et al., 2009). Sport participation provides youth with (a) structure and direction in physical pursuits, (b) cooperative and competitive exercises, (c) sport-specific skills which tend to lead to specialization, and (d) strategies for healthy-behavior development (Coatsworth & Conroy, 2009; Roult, Auger, Royer, & Adjizian, 2016). In general, youth engaged in sports report higher levels of resource support and direct monitoring when compared with youth highly involved in unstructured activities (Hutchinson, Baldwin, & Caldwell, 2003; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). Conversely, participation in team sports predicted greater involvement in risky behaviors. Eccles & Barber (2003) found that both male and female athletes drank and became inebriated more often than non-athletes; however, results also highlighted the association between active sport participation and positive academic performance with regards to coach involvement.

Second, individuals who became involved in extracurricular activities were less likely to drop out of school as adolescents or to be arrested as young adults than were similar young persons who were not involved (Mahoney & Stattin, 2000). Mahoney and Stattin (2000) also reported that extracurricular activities continue to have a positive influence beyond the years of formal schooling. Extracurricular structured activities, such as music-directed programs or academic clubs, provide youth with (a) problem-solving skills, (b) self-esteem enhancing strategies, and (c) healthy-decision making skills (Watts, Caldwell, & Gillard, 2008). Eccles and Barber (2003) posited that engagement in extracurricular activities, such as academic clubs, is

related to educational and occupational outcomes. In other words, those youth who participated in academic clubs were more likely to be enrolled in college at 21 than their non-involved peers – similar to the findings of Mahoney and Stattin (2000).

Third, similar to extracurricular programs, after-school programs complement formal learning curricula in educational institutions under the guidance of PYD (Tambasco, 2016). They typically are designed to facilitate motivation and promote direct engagement among youth (Carruthers, 2006; Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, Valsiner, 2007). Consequently, after-school programs provide an ideal setting in which to incorporate an autonomy-supportive context (Grolnick & Ryan, 1989; Larson, 2000; Mahoney, Lord, & Carryl, 2005; Noam, 2003; Ryan & Grolnick, 1986). Autonomy-supportive contexts allow for choice and support active problem solving in school, the classroom, and even at home (Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, Valsiner, 2007). Conversely, controlling environments pressure students and solve problems for them; thus, taking a more external stance toward their work and adopting performance rather than learning goals (Bandura, 1994; Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, Valsiner, 2007). Therefore, educational institutions have been expanding their strategies – and have increased the number of autonomy-supportive opportunities youth have access to (Terzian, Giesen, & Mbwana, 2009).

Generally speaking, when adolescents are engaged in structured activities, they are seeking the most efficient way to achieve pre-existing objectives while simultaneously directing attention and effort toward a challenging goal (Larson, 2000; Shannon, 2006; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). When experienced over time, as previously mentioned, concerted engagement and intrinsic motivation converge to form the concept of initiative (Shannon, 2006; Larson, 2000; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). However, not all structured activity experiences lead to positive

outcomes. An overemphasis on structured activities may ultimately lead to the depreciation of motivation and awareness in adolescents and children (Holt et al., 2009; Meeks & Mauldin, 1990). With too much structure, social, emotional, and cognitive development may be thwarted (Meeks & Mauldin) and the development of initiative may be inhibited. Recent research highlights several reasons for the overemphasis of structured activity participation. Parents typically associate structured participation with (a) safety, (b) achievement, and (c) selfdiscipline (Meeks & Mauldin; Larson & Verma, 1999); thus, the overemphasis of structured play has fluctuated in the United States over the past century due to the belief that childhood is a period strictly for the accomplishment of developmental tasks – not one for mere child's play (Harman & Harms, 2017). In contrast, Kao and Salerno (2014) present findings supporting the hypothesis that adolescents often endorse parental practices that keep them busy with activities. Therefore, distinguishing between the quality of youth experience from the quantity may be central to understanding socialization and developmental processes in youth programming (Coatsworth & Conroy, 2009). Accounting for just over 13% of the total time spent in free time, structured activities are perceived as having great potential to impact PYD (Larson & Verma, 1999) and assist with the development of social negotiation skills, cooperative behaviors, and initiative (Watts & Caldwell, 2008).

Unstructured Leisure Activities

Unstructured activities are those activities chosen for enjoyment and overall personal interest that require low levels of engagement. They are often experiences outside of a structured setting which allow for the formation and exploration of new interests (e.g., hanging out, watching television, or going to the movies). Similar to structured leisure pursuits, unstructured activities also provide opportunities for skill and identity development (Darling, Caldwell, &

Smith, 2005). However, the same qualities of the unstructured leisure context that afford opportunities for PYD can also lead to engagement in problematic risk behaviors (Osgood, Anderson, & Shaffer, 2005). For this reason, parents generally do not value unstructured social activities such as 'hanging out' (Kleop & Hendry, 2003) and fail to provide the resources that would otherwise encourage participation. The lack of allocated resources to adolescents in the form of time, attention, space, warmth, or caring may be connected to research evidence suggesting that participation in unstructured activities does not produce the same degree of positive developmental outcomes as structured activities (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Yousefian, Ziller, Swartz, & Hartley, 2008). However, it may be that parental monitoring, and not the activities themselves, explain when unstructured activities are of developmental value.

Research indicates that parental knowledge of adolescent time use can promote PYD—including adolescent self-regulated motivation and self-determination through balancing knowledge, facilitation, and control (Sharp et al., 2006). Unstructured activity participation usually occurs behind closed doors and without supervision (Kleop & Hendry, 2003) and is regarded as important to adolescent development when youth are ready for the challenges in this environment (Caldwell & Baldwin, 2005). Current literature on the assessment of youth self-sufficiency and life skills recognizes the importance of tangible and intangible skills in adolescent development and unstructured free time participation (Nollan et al., 2000). Tangible skills (Lyman et al., 1996) are those skills we know or do (e.g., money management, and vocational interests) and intangible skills are those skills needed for interpersonal relationship development and involvement (e.g., decision-making, self-esteem management) (Lyman et al., 1996). Both are developed through unstructured free time participation and engagement. During unstructured free time, adolescents are able to develop new interests, try new things, and

experiment with others – resulting in opportunities which promote tangible and intangible skill development. Both tangible and intangible skills must be present to provide a complete picture of optimal youth functioning, and are acquired through unstructured activity engagement (Furstenberg, 2000; Gilman, Meyers, Perez, 2004).

Activity Profile Analysis

Participation in activities provides adolescents with opportunities to develop specific skills through the interaction with others while simultaneously developing positive relationships with nurturing and caring adults. These skills tend to lead to the development of a sense of belonging with particular peer and social groups (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). Despite being studied by several disciplines (e.g., sociology, psychology), some research (e.g., Eccles & Barber, 1999; Marsh, 1992) has reported findings based solely on the participation rates in one leisure area (i.e., extracurricular activity) (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). Bartko & Eccles (2003) noted that solely relying on extracurricular involvement limits how researchers understand the impact of out-ofschool time (i.e., free time) activities on adolescents' lives. Cooper, Valentine, Nye, and Lindsay (1999) observed significant contributions when multiple activity variables were present (e.g., homework, television viewing, extracurricular activities). When controlling for age, gender, and grade level, researchers determined that accounting for variables beyond the structured/unstructured dichotomy more than doubled the amount of variance explained for the measures of student achievement; thus, demonstrating the increased explanatory power gained from examining multiple activity settings (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Cooper, Valentine, Nye, & Lindsay, 1999).

Additionally, great attention has been given to the correlates of different types of activities, such as constructive, organized activities, and relaxed free time pursuits in the leisure

studies field (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Larson & Kleiber, 1993). For this reason, researchers (e.g., Kleiber, 1999) have distinguished between activities that are enjoyable – but not necessarily demanding or related to the development of specific skills or competencies – and those that require effort and persistence and are thought to be more directly related to skill development and self-concept (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Watts, Caldwell, & Gillard, 2008). These have been labeled "passive" and "constructive" activities, respectively.

Though researchers have distinguished between constructive and passive activities, youth utilize their time in different ways that doesn't cleanly match the passive/constructive dichotomy. Instead, activity profiles lend themselves well when specific free time situations are considered (i.e., homework, paid work). Activity profiles (e.g., sports-oriented, extracurricular) are often utilized to either identify patterns of activity involvement among adolescents. They are also used to examine patterns of activity involvement and the academic, emotional, and behavioral functioning of adolescents through the implementation of a cluster analysis (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). As stated prior, utilizing more than one activity profile will increase the explanatory power of the data set. For this reason, some researchers advocate that specific grouping of profiles outlined in a cluster analysis, is most appropriate (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Bergman & El-Khouris, 1995; Watts, Caldwell and Gillard, 2008).

Activity profiles are determined using cluster analysis. Cluster analyses do not assume normal distribution, unlike traditional linear approaches, and identify cases that are then grouped in a specific, organized manner (Bergman & El-Khouri). Cluster analyses take a heterogeneous set of individuals, oftentimes through self-reported measures, and group them according to their similarity across specified variables – leaving a smaller number of mutually exclusive and exhaustive clusters (Everitt, Landau, & Leese, 2001).

This study investigated the relationship between activity profile type and motivation in free time. Past studies have examined motivation and its relationship to structured and unstructured activity participation (Fawcett, Garton, & Dandy, 2009; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). These studies have dichotomized activities based on specific elements for structured (e.g., adult-supervised, goal-directed) and unstructured (e.g., lack adult supervision and monitoring) activities. By clustering youth on specific reports of what they do in their free time, this study examined how specific patterns of behavior relate to perceptions of parent autonomy support and free time motivation. Self-determination theory provided guidance on how parenting practices work to influence motivation.

Self-Determination Theory (SDT)

Often associated with human motivation and the aspects of personality, SDT argues that if three basic psychological needs are met (i.e., competence, autonomy, relatedness), optimal functioning will occur. Though all three basic needs must be satisfied to achieve optimal functioning, each resource is, in itself, of significant importance. Ryan and Deci (2000) define these inner resources in the following manner: (a) competence requires outcome control and experience mastery; (b) relatedness requires interaction, connection, and experience with others; and (c) autonomy requires recognition of one's inner-self and acknowledgement of independence in decision making. To actualize the full potential of these resources, the social environment is key in nurturing the needs of the individual. From a leisure-based standpoint, program participation is largely dependent on (a) overall value or (b) external coercion. Further, two types of motivation exist in current literature: intrinsic and extrinsic. Intrinsic motivation is the inherent tendency to seek out novelty and challenges in participation and is supported by the Cognitive Evaluation Theory (CET; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Extrinsic motivation is the tendency to

perform an activity mainly because doing so will yield some kind of reward, benefit, or external goal outside of the behavior and is supported by the Organismic Integration Theory (OIT; Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991).

OIT, a sub theory of SDT, offers a suitable framework for clarifying the inclination individuals have towards integrating subjective reasons for leisure behavior into themselves (Deci & Ryan, 1985). For this reason, different regulatory forms are aligned on a continuum of self-determination related to internalization. Framed in terms of internalization, which explains the integration of the regulation for motivated behaviors and is often supported through the contextual factors that either promote or hinder this process, OIT is characterized as a theoretical procedure in which individual reasons to engage in a certain behavior change over time. Ideally, these dynamic changes result in stronger internalization, such that the reasons to engage in a behavior become more and more part of the self (i.e., organismic integration) (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Wasserkampf & Kleinert, 2016). Internalization is a process through which one learns to value or identify with an activity that was previously performed for an external reason (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Moody, 2012). Programs are most successful in promoting internalization when supports for the basic psychological needs of autonomy, competence, and relatedness exist (Moody, 2012; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Conversely, Ryan and Deci (2000) contend that amotivation develops when psychological needs are not met. Amotivation is disadvantageous to the adoption of new behaviors and can ultimately thwart developmental progress (Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Larson, 2000).

The Internalization Process

The central socialization goal is internalization wherein youth take in social regulations, make them their own, and eventually self-regulate autonomously (Joussemet, Landry, &

Koestner, 2008). Integration is oftentimes referred to as the period where means have been evaluated and brought into congruence with one's other values and needs. As individuals internalize regulations and assimilate them to the self, they experience greater autonomy in action (Ryan & Deci, 2000) – however, the process of internalization can largely be influenced by social factors (e.g., parental units, peers, siblings). For this reason, it is important to understand the factors within the internalization continuum.

Extrinsically motivated behaviors that are the least autonomous are referred to as externally regulated. External regulation involves performing an activity to satisfy an external demand or reward contingency and is often prompted or valued by significant others to whom they feel attached or related (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Introjected regulation, typically performed out of anxiety or guilt, involves taking in a regulation but not fully accepting it as one's own (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Identified regulation involves a conscious valuing of a behavioral goal – such that the action is accepted or owned as personally important (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Integrated regulation is the last form of motivation before intrinsic motivation and occurs when identified regulations are fully assimilated to the self (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

The Role of Parents in Internalization

Ample research exists that suggests the significant relation between parental involvement and the internalization of behavior and motivation (Fawcett, 2007; Grolnick, 2016). Parental involvement largely affects children's achievement through the facilitation of motivational resources: perceived competence, perceived control, and autonomous self-regulation (Grolnick, 2016). Due to the varying developmental needs of adolescents, it may be appropriate for parents to adjust their level of control and supervision of their children's free time accordingly (Green, Walker, Hoover-Dempsey, & Sandler, 2007). However, the combination of autonomy support

with a developmentally appropriate level of parental involvement and structure is considered ideal for fostering PYD (Grolnick, 2003; Sharp et al., 2006; Soenens & Vansteenkiste, 2010). Moreover, parental support is also an important determinant of adolescent participation in structured and unstructured activities. The more adolescents perceived their parents to be supportive in a particular structured leisure activity, the greater their length of participation and enjoyment (Fawcett et. al., 2009); however, too much parental involvement and control may also be detrimental to an adolescent's development of self-regulated motivation and may lead to amotivation (Sharp et al., 2006). Thus, the role of parents in the internalization process is of significant importance.

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The review of the literature demonstrates the importance of autonomy supportive parenting practices to adolescent motivation; however, measuring activity participation has been limited to dichotomized variables (e.g., structured vs. unstructured activity participation) or a singular focus on structured activities. These approaches do not reflect typical patterns of behavior that adolescents demonstrate in their free time hours. This study examined relationships between parenting practices that support autonomy, motivation in free time and adolescent recreation participation. Specifically, this study used activity profiles derived from common patterns of recreation behavior as opposed to dichotomizing recreation as either structured or unstructured. With these goals in mind, this study addressed the following research questions: **RQ**₁: Are there differences in free time intrinsic motivation when comparing students by activity profiles?

RQ₂: Are there differences in youths' perceptions of parent autonomy support practices when comparing students by activity profiles?

RQ₃: What is the relationship between adolescents' perceptions of parent autonomy support practices and adolescents' free time intrinsic motivation?

RQ4: Are there differences in free time intrinsic motivation, perceptions of parent autonomy support practices and activity profile type by age?

The first three research questions reflected this study's focus on understanding the parenting practice-motivation-participation dynamic that youth experienced. The fourth research question was applied with the recognition that variation in reports of parenting practices, motivation and activity participation might occur by age because of developmental aspects. For example, parents of older children might grant more control to adolescents during free time. As

youth progress through adolescence, they spend an increasing amount of time outside the family and in the company of peers. Parental monitoring becomes less reliant on supervision and control and includes more autonomy-granting as youth enter adolescence (Ying, Ma, Huang, Guo, Chen, & Xu, 2015). Researchers have identified that parental autonomy-granting, rather than parental control, promotes adolescents' honesty and facilitates mutual trust (Ying et al.). By striking the right balance between individuation and connectedness, parents and adolescents can maintain trust in and warmth with each other in recreational pursuits and throughout the developmental process (Kerr & Stattin, 2000; Ying et al.). In other words, parental knowledge of the adolescent's behavior, as well as the adolescent's activities during free time, is closely linked to trust (Finkenauer, Engels, & Meeus, 2002) and is often associated with parents' greater responsiveness to their adolescents during their free time pursuits (Rutten, Boen, & Seghers, 2015).

METHODOLOGY

Study Design

The following section describes the methods which were utilized to explore this study's research questions. Using a quantitative design, this study collected data from students who attended schools located in Hyde County, North Carolina. Data originated from an ongoing evaluation of a 21st Century Community Learning Center in the county. School administrators collected data on youth's free time activity participation, free time motivation, and school connectedness, as well as on youth's perceptions of parenting practices in free time. These data were already in the possession of the school district, so the researcher simply requested the data for study goals. Data were stripped of identifiers for the stated study purpose. The superintendent approved of this use, and data were released to the study team, which consisted of the researcher and his faculty advisor. This letter is on file with the East Carolina University (ECU) University and Medical Institutional Review Board. A description of the sampling area, data collection procedures, instrumentation, and analysis procedures follows.

Population and Sample

The mainland in Hyde County is rural and remote with a population density that averages nine people per square mile (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). According to the 2017 United States Census Bureau, Hyde County, North Carolina had a population of 5,363 people with men representing 55.1% of the population. Between 2010 and 2017, the population of Hyde County, NC declined from 5,810 to 5,363 – a 7.7% decline. The population of Hyde County, NC was 67.5% Caucasian, 29.1% African-American, and 8.7% Hispanic. Hyde County, NC had a median household income of \$37,741 and a per capita poverty percentage of 22.3%.

Approximately 81% of the population graduated from high school, and 8.7% of the population obtained a bachelor's degree or higher (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017).

Data Collection

Data were collected in the spring of 2014 and spring 2017 using an electronic questionnaire administered by school officials from Hyde County, North Carolina. Throughout the year, the school district collects information from students. These data sets serve to inform further improvement of after school initiatives and assist in outcome evaluation of the after school program. School officials administered an electronic questionnaire that contained sections on demographics, youth free time intrinsic motivation, youth perceptions of parental autonomy support, and free time activity participation. A detailed description of each section is provided in the instrumentation section of the proposal.

Data were collected from students in grades 6-11 and were administered in the school's computer lab. To capture students from each grade level, students completed the questionnaire during their health and physical education classes. Student absences were monitored, and one follow-up administration was scheduled. No other attempt was performed at follow-up beyond this second administration because of concern for unnecessary disruptions of the typical school day. Student identification numbers were used to ensure that responses were unique - thereby allowing the school to track the percentage of students who completed the questionnaire. School administrators provided a dataset to the research team without unique identifying information, such as names, birth dates, addresses, and telephone numbers.

The questionnaire collected demographic information about gender, race, age in years, and grade level for each student. Prior to data acquisition, the Office of Human Research Integrity and Compliance at East Carolina University (ECU-IRB) reviewed the protocol for

collecting and transferring data from Hyde County Schools to this study. This review assured that proper human protections procedures were in place prior to data collection. A copy the ECU-IRB approval can be found in Appendix A.

Instrumentation

School officials administered an electronic questionnaire, which transferred data directly to a database. The database was stripped of identifiers and shared with the current study team. The database contained sections on demographics, free time activity participation, free time intrinsic motivation, and youth perceptions of parental autonomy support. A description of each section follows.

Demographics

The questionnaire included questions about each student's sex, grade level, race and participation in the 21st Century Community Learning Center after school program. These measures were used to describe the sample and note any differences on study measures.

Free time Activity Participation

Free time activity participation was measured using an inventory developed by Watts and Caldwell (2008). Activities assessed were common structured and unstructured activities for students that included sports, playing an instrument, extracurricular activities (e.g., after school program or after school club), activities outside of school (e.g., church youth group, 4H, Future Farmers of America), hobbies (e.g., model building, collecting baseball cards, sewing, knitting), watching television, playing videogames and using the internet, hanging out with friends, and outdoor pursuits (e.g., hiking, fishing, hunting, just enjoying nature). The inventory used a five-point scale with the following response categories: (1) hardly ever or never, (2) sometimes

(about once a week), (3) often (about twice a week), (4) a lot (more than twice a week, and (5) daily (every day).

Free time Intrinsic Motivation

Free time intrinsic motivation was measured using items from the Free time Motivation Scale for Adolescents (FTMS-A) developed by Hutchinson, Baldwin and Caldwell (2002). Four items reflecting intrinsic motivation (e.g., "I do what I want to in my free time because I enjoy what I do") were presented on the questionnaire. These were measured on a five-point scale ranging from 1=strongly disagree to 5=strongly agree. Items were then averaged to form a mean scale score for this measure.

The FTMS-A demonstrated both reliability and validity in past studies. Baldwin and Caldwell (2003) reported scale statistics for intrinsic motivation through a 5-item motivation subscale which produced a low reliability coefficient (α = .68). Reliability improved when the item 'sense of freedom' was deleted. While other intrinsic motivation items conveyed enjoyment and desire, adolescents may have interpreted freedom as lack of restrictions rather than choice (Baldwin & Caldwell, 2003). With the deletion of this item, the reported reliability statistic improved (α = .72). Baldwin and Caldwell (2003) also reported that intrinsic motivation and amotivation displayed an expected negative and significant correlation (r = -.359), supporting the construct validity of the FTMS-A. Further, Sharp, Caldwell, Graham, & Ridenour (2006) contended that a high score on self-regulated motivation (α = .83) ("The activities help me develop into the person I want to become") indicated that a behavior is internally driven due to expectations of some internal reward (e.g., pleasure or accomplishing a personally valued goal). Similarly, Watts and Caldwell (2008) assessed adolescent's self-determination through Baldwin and Caldwell's (2003) FTMS-A and reported intrinsic motivation and amotivation through a 5-

point scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. Posed questions reflected intrinsic motivation and were sufficiently reliable ($\alpha = .77$) (Watts & Caldwell, 2008).

Perceptions of Parental Autonomy Support and Involvement

Perceptions of Parental Autonomy Support and Involvement (PASI) were measured using items from Robbins (1994) and revised by Watts (2004) to reflect parenting practices in free time. Questions focused on perceptions of choice and control (e.g., *My parents let me make my own choices, My parents always want me to do things their way, My parents help me make choices about what I do*), expectations (e.g., *My parents explain to me how to behave*), and monitoring during free time (e.g., *My parents like to know what I am doing, My parents know what I like to do*). These measures trace their origin to the work of Grolnick, Ryan, and Deci (1991), who identified children's perceptions of their parents on dimensions of autonomy support and involvement through the development of the Children's Perceptions of Parents Scale (POPS).

Utilizing Harter's (1985) Self-Perception Profile for Children, POPS examined children's reasons for engaging in school activities, ranging from less to more autonomous reasons (Ryan & Connell, 1989); however, in this study (Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991), children's perceptions of their parents' autonomy support and involvement were examined. As mentioned previously, three inner resources act as central elements in motivation: (a) control understanding, (b) perceived competence, and (c) perceived autonomy (Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). The central element in motivation, intentionality, (i.e., the determination to act toward a goal or engage in a particular behavior) plays a major role in understanding how to control outcomes associated with behavioral choices (Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). Intentionality to act is strongly influenced by control understanding (i.e., children's understanding of who or what controls outcomes in their

lives). Further, several research studies have shown that variables such as parental belief systems and behavior patterns are also related to academic and cognitive outcomes in children (Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). These studies demonstrated that questions from the POPS were effective in assessing children's perceptions of their parents' autonomy support and involvement.

POPS demonstrated both reliability and validity in past studies. Watts (2004) reported scale statistics for autonomy support through a 7-item scale (1 = "Not at all true", 4 = "Somewhat true", and 7 = "Very true"). Reliability analysis for internal consistency on the autonomy support scale indicated reliable measures (α = .93) (Watts, 2004). Watts (2004) indicated that the correlation between the parent autonomy support scale and the parent involvement scale was very high (r=.891), which indicated a possible conceptual overlap. This strong correlation (r=.89) suggested that measures of parent autonomy support and involvement measured the same concept; thus, study hypotheses were restated to reflect the combination of the parent autonomy support and parent involvement (PASI) items (Watts, 2004). Reliability analyses for the revised scales yielded a Cronbach's alpha score of .95 (Watts, 2004). Under the new model, no correlations between psychological needs variables were above .60, and there were no measurement concerns with the variables under the revised model (Watts, 2004).

Analysis of Data

Data were imported into a file using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). The first pass at data analysis examined descriptive data for out of range and missing data; the range and skewness or kurtosis of responses to specific items were also examined. Following this review, data were tested for reliability using a test of internal consistency using Cronbach's Alpha as a determinant.

Activity profiles were developed through a two-step cluster analysis with Bayesian information criterion (BIC) on the five types of activity measures. This procedure is used to create profiles that summarize specific characteristics about the participants in the sample; in this case, identifying specific patterns of free time behavior by participants. This procedure is run using SPSS to specify parameters for maximum number of categories. In a similar study that examined activity profiles, Watts, Caldwell and Gillard (2008) found that participants fell into one of five activity behavior profiles:

- (1) High-involved youth exhibited high levels of participation across a variety of activities to include extracurricular clubs, sports, social activities and unstructured activities.
- (2) Sports-oriented youth exhibited high levels of participation in sports.
- (3) Extracurricular youth exhibited high levels of participation in extracurricular clubs and activities that were not sport.
- (4) Low-involved youth exhibited low levels of participation across a variety of activities to include extracurricular clubs, sports, social activities and unstructured activities.
- (5) High-unstructured youth reported participating in unsupervised unstructured activities at home or out of the home with friends.

As cluster analyses yield clusters unique to specific samples, a similar analysis was performed before analyzing the research questions. Once profiles were determined, analyses of research questions ensued and are described in the results section.

RESULTS

Results for this study were divided into three subsections: (1) profile of respondents, (2) summary statistics for study measures, and (3) results of research question testing.

Profile of Respondents

Demographic information from the school questionnaire included gender, race/ethnicity, grade, and age. Data from 303 respondents were collected and analyzed. A total of 299 respondents had data for all sections of the questionnaire. This represents approximately 66% of the total school (*N*=453) population available to take the survey. Students were excluded if they were absent, on an excused school trip, or in cases where the school did not receive permission from parents to participate in the evaluation. All respondents in the sample attended one of two schools in Hyde County. As shown in Table 1, there were slightly more male (53.2%) than female (46.8%) respondents. Close to 60 percent of the sample (58.2%) were in the middle school grades (grades 6-8). The age of participants was consistent with the grades represented. The sample was mostly represented by students who were Caucasian (45.4%) and African-American (38.6%). Approximately 10.2% of the sample were categorized as Hispanic/Latino and 5.8% of respondents were classified as "Other" for ethnicity. Students who identified as 'Other' were Asian-American or those who reported biracial or multi-racial status.

Students were also asked to report whether or not they attended the after school program located at their school. Students who indicated 'No' represented the largest group captured in the sample (65.7%). A summary of respondents' characteristics is presented in Table 1.

Table 1
Characteristics of Respondents (N=303)

Category	Sample (n)	%	Valid %
	_		
Gender			
Male	159	52.5	52.3
Female	140	46.2	46.8
Missing	4	1.3	-
Total	303	100.0	100.0
Race/Ethnicity			
Caucasian	133	43.9	45.4
African-American	113	37.3	38.6
Hispanic/Latino	30	9.9	10.2
Other*	17	5.6	5.8
Missing	10	3.3	-
Total	303	100.0	100.0
10141	3 0 3	100.0	100.0
Grade			
6 th	59	19.5	19.7
7 th	77	25.4	25.8
8 th	38	12.5	12.7
9 th	41	13.5	13.7
10 th	35	11.6	11.7
11 th	25	8.3	8.4
12 th	24	7.9	8.0
Missing	4	1.3	-
Total	303	100.0	100.0
Total	303	100.0	100.0
Aga (Maan-12 07)			
Age (Mean=13.97)	1	0.3	0.4
11	1 27	8.9	9.7
12	50	16.5	18.0
13	51		18.3
		16.8	
14 15	41 47	13.5	14.7
		15.5	16.9
16	21	6.9	7.6
17	22	7.3	7.9
18	17	5.6	6.1
19 Missing	1	0.3	0.4
Missing	25	8.3	100.0
Total	303	100.0	100.0

Summary of Statistics for Study Measures

Free time Leisure Activity

An inventory of out-of-school leisure time activities collected information on what respondents did in their free time. This inventory has been used in similar studies on youth and free time behavior (see Burkhart, 2013; Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Watts, Caldwell & Gillard, 2008). Ten items were used to measure free time leisure activity participation (e.g., In your free time or time out of school how often do go to an after school program or school-based club). Free time activity participation was measured on a five-point scale with responses being: (1) Hardly ever or never; (2) Sometimes (about once a week); (3) Often (about twice a week; (4) A lot (more than twice a week); and (5) Daily (everyday). A summary of free time activity participation is provided in Table 2.

After school participation ranked the highest among 'Hardly Ever or Never/' responses (60.1%). Time spent alone ranked the highest among 'Sometimes (about once a week)' responses (27.1%). Time spent alone ranked the highest among 'Often (about twice a week)' responses (23.4%). Time spent outside ranked highest among 'A lot (more than twice a week)' responses (22.0%). Time spent watching television or videos on the television ranked the highest among 'Daily (everyday)/' responses (49.7%).

Table 2
Summary of Free time Leisure Activity Participation (N=299)

How often do you (%)	(1) Hardly Ever	(2) Sometimes	(3) Often	(4) A lot	(5) Daily
Play sports for school or outside club?	34.1	12.7	18.4	16.1	18.7
Play an instrument?	71.2	11.0	7.0	4.7	6.0
Go to an after school program or club?	60.1	10.7	9.4	9.7	10.1
Go to programs outside of school?	39.9	21.1	22.8	11.7	4.4
Participate in a hobby?	29.0	13.1	17.2	18.2	22.6
Watch TV or videos on TV?	5.0	10.3	13.7	21.3	49.7
Play videogames or use the internet?		12.4	17.1	17.1	44.0
Hangout at other people's homes without supervision?		20.1	21.1	21.1	24.1
Spend time outside?		16.3	21.0	22.0	27.0
Spend time alone at home?	20.7	27.1	23.4	16.7	12.0

Determining Free time Leisure Activity Participation Profiles

As directed by Bartko and Eccles (2003) and Watts et al. (2008), a two-step analytic process was required to classify the activity types using principle components analysis. This was followed by cluster analysis to yield activity type clusters; hereafter referred to as "activity profiles" in this study.

A principal components analysis with Varimax rotation was used to classify the activity participation variables into particular types of free time activity subsets. To ease interpretation of results the analysis suppressed factor loadings below .40 and assured that no items cross-loaded with values of .10 or higher (Stevens, 2012). The analysis identified four distinct factors:

unsupervised hanging out or time alone, media use (TV and videogames), school-based after school programs and organized sports, and activities outside of school (hobbies, community-based activities, and time outdoors). These four factors accounted for 56.38% of the variance for this group of items. Results of the principal components analysis are reported below in Table 3.

Table 3

Principal Components Analysis of Free time Participation Items (N=299)

	Factor Loadings				
Item	1	2	3	4	
Hang out at home alone unsupervised	.77				
Hang out with others unsupervised	.60				
Playing videogames		.70			
Watching TV and movies		.53			
Go to after school program at school			.82		
Organized Sports			.48		
Doing hobbies				.49	
Involved in community activities				.41	
Doing outdoor activities				.40	
Eigenvalues	1.92	1.46	1.20	1.06	
% of variance (56.38%)	19.20	14.57	11.98	10.63	

^{*}Note: Factor loadings below .40 were suppressed to ease interpretation of simple structure

Cluster Analysis

Activity profiles were developed through a two-step cluster analysis with Bayesian information criterion (BIC). The analysis clustered participants into groups based on specific patterns of free time behavior by participants. The analysis used a log-likelihood method to determine the best fit solution in fifteen iterations. The analysis yielded a two-cluster solution with cluster quality that was deemed "fair" on the degree to which there was cohesion and separation between the clusters. A listwise deletion further reduced the sample to 283 cases due to missing data on one of the free time participation types.

Differences between groups were examined using a Mann-Whitney U test for differences in rank means. Mean scores are reported for ease of interpretation. Table 4 indicates that the groups differed only in the degree to which they participated in sports and after school activities or programs. Differences in after school program (ASP) and sport participation were significant between those in the After School/Sport cluster when compared to the Home/Hobby-oriented cluster (M_{diff} = 3.19; U= 1.5; p < .001). No other differences were observed between the two cluster groups on measures of TV/Video game participation, time reported in unsupervised activities, and time spent in hobbies, outside or with community-based agencies.

Table 4

Summary of Free time Leisure Activities: Cluster Analysis (N=283)

Free time Activity Type	Cluster 1: After School and Sports (n=85)		Cluster 2: Home and Hobby Oriente (n=198)	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
ASP/Organized Sports***	5.58	.97	2.39	.78
TV/Video games	4.02	.83	3.86	1.14
Unsupervised Time	2.89	.92	2.77	.92
Home-based/Community-based	3.01	.99	2.94	1.20

^{***} p<.001

Descriptive Statistics and Reliability Analysis for Parent Autonomy Support Practices

To measure perceptions of parental autonomy support and involvement, the study used a scale modified by Watts and Caldwell (2008) based on the work of Robbins (1994). The scale contained items that measured intrinsic motivation and perceived parental autonomy support/involvement (Ryan & Connell, 1989). For each item, respondents were asked to indicate if they disagreed or agreed with the statement. Each statement was measured on a five-point scale with values ranging from 1= Strongly Disagree to 5= Strongly Agree. A summary score for perceived parental autonomy support and involvement was derived based on these responses.

Table 5 reports statistics for the scale (i.e., POPS scale). Table statistics include the mean, standard deviation, number of respondents, and Cronbach's Alpha if the item was deleted from the total scale. A total Cronbach's Alpha is also reported for each scale in the table. According to Cortina (1993), reliability for scales with less than six items is considered adequate when $\alpha = .60$ or above. Thus, results presented in Table 5 indicate adequate reliability for the total scale.

Table 5

Perceptions of Parents Scale Reliability (N=299)

Item	Mean	SD	α if item deleted
Parent Autonomy Support (α=.63)			
My parent(s) make time to talk with me	2.54	1.03	.58
My parent(s) explains to me how to behave	3.59	0.65	.53
My parent(s) lets me make my own choices in my free time	3.81	0.49	.55
My parent(s) like to know what I am doing	3.01	1.04	.51
My parent(s) let me make my own choices in free time	3.35	0.83	.54

Descriptive Statistics and Reliability Analysis for Adolescent Free time Motivation

Intrinsic motivation was measured using items from a scale developed by Baldwin and Caldwell (2003). For each item, respondents were asked to indicate if they disagreed or agreed with the statement. Each statement was measured on a five-point scale with values ranging from 1= Strongly Disagree to 5= Strongly Agree. A summary score for intrinsic motivation was derived based on these responses. Results in Table 6 indicate adequate reliability for the total scale and its subscales.

Table 6

Free time Intrinsic Motivation Scale Reliability (N=299)

Item	Mean	SD	α if item deleted
Free time Intrinsic Motivation (α =.91)			
I do what I do in my free time because I enjoy what I do	4.00	1.12	.86
I do what I do in my free time because I like what I do	3.92	1.12	.87
I do what I do in my free time because it is what I want to do	3.89	1.18	.91
I do what I do in my free time because I want to have fun	4.04	1.13	.87

Analysis of Research Questions

Prior to hypothesis testing, tests of normality were performed on all study variables. Scales measuring free time intrinsic motivation and perceptions of parent autonomy support practices, when comparing students by their activity profiles, did not meet the assumptions of a normal distribution as they were positively skewed. Therefore, Mann-Whitney U tests were utilized in place of independent samples *t*-tests on research questions one and two, and Spearman's Rho was used in place of Pearson's product-moment correlations for research questions three and four.

The first research question examined the differences between free time intrinsic motivation when comparing students by activity profiles. Results point to no significant differences between activity profiles on measures of free time motivation. Specifically, those classified as after school did not differ significantly from those classified as home-based on self-reported measures of intrinsic motivation in free time.

The second research question investigated the differences between youths' perceptions of parent autonomy support practices when comparing students by activity profiles. Results of the analysis found no significant differences between activity profile groups when examining youths' perceptions of parent autonomy support practices. Specifically, those classified as after school did not differ significantly from those classified as home-based on self-reported measures of perceptions of autonomy support in free time. Results for research questions one and two are reported below in Table 7.

Table 7

Self-Reported Measures of Perceptions of Autonomy Support/Intrinsic Motivation in Free time (N=283)

	Extra- curricular M (SD) (n=85)	Home- based M (SD) (n=198)	U	p
Intrinsic Motivation	4.05 (1.03)	3.90 (1.00)	7534.00	n.s.
Parent Autonomy Support	3.37 (.51)	3.22 (.53)	6509.50	n.s.

The third research question examined the relationship between adolescent perceptions of parent autonomy support practices and adolescent free time intrinsic motivation. A correlation analysis using Spearman's Rho was performed. A positive correlation existed between the outcome variable, free time intrinsic motivation, and parental involvement (rho=.137, p<.05). Thus, as parental involvement increased, so did the youth's levels of free time intrinsic motivation.

The fourth research question used Spearman's Rho to examine if age was related to either intrinsic motivation or parent autonomy support. Parental autonomy support was negatively related to age (rho=-.231, p<.01), which was suggested as a variable of interest considering the differences in age for the sample. Parental involvement decreased as the age of the youth in this study increased. There was no significant relationship between age and free time intrinsic motivation (rho=.008, p > .05). Table 8 presents data used for research questions three and four.

Table 8

Bivariate Correlations (Spearman's Rho) among the Study Variables (N=299)

	1	2	3	
1. Parent Inv.	-			
2. Motivation	.137*	-		
3. Age	214**	.008	-	

^{*} $p \le .05$ (2-tailed); ** $p \le .01$ (2-tailed).

CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION

This study utilized the Self-Determination Theory as a guiding framework to understand the relationships between parent autonomy support, free time motivation and free time activity participation. Using activity profiles, youth categorized as after school-oriented were compared to those who were home-based in their leisure on measures of free time intrinsic motivation and perceptions of parent autonomy support practices. Further, the study tested the relationship between free time intrinsic motivation and perceptions of parent autonomy support practices.

Lastly, the researcher tested whether age correlated with intrinsic motivation or parent autonomy support practices. Data for scales measuring intrinsic motivation and perceptions of parent autonomy support were positively skewed, which required the use of nonparametric statistics.

When considering the first research question, there were no differences observed in mean ranks between the after school based and home-based activity profiles with respect to intrinsic motivation. Similarly, on research question two, no differences in mean rank scores were observed between the two activity profile groups on reported levels of parent autonomy support. For the third research question, a positive relationship between parent autonomy support and free time intrinsic motivation was observed. This finding suggests that when parents supported autonomy support practices youth reported higher levels of intrinsic motivation, which is supported in the literature. A fourth research question explored the relationship of age with parent autonomy support. A negative relationship between age and parent autonomy support was observed, which suggests that parents were perceived to be less autonomy supportive by older children in the sample.

When considering the findings, the lack of differentiation on motivation and parenting practices between groups was surprising. In past studies, youth who participated in structured activities reported higher levels of parent autonomy support and intrinsic motivation. This study did not observe a difference between these two groups. Consistent with the literature, there was a relationship between parenting practices and intrinsic motivation in free time. The implications of these results are discussed below.

Discussion

This study found that the nature and experience of free time for youth in this particular rural county was often associated with home-based activity participation rather than structured after school activity participation. After school activity participation, often centralized within the county, allows youth to stay later at school to experience opportunities at school or through the 21st Century program. In contrast, home-based activity participation may allow for more in-depth social and physical contact with parents and responsibilities associated with chores and assisting family members (Burkhart, 2013).

This study identified whether differences existed between free time intrinsic motivation and youths' perceptions of parent autonomy support and involvement (PASI) by activity profiles of youth. The results of this study indicate that PASI and free time intrinsic motivation were positively correlated – suggesting that it is not what an adolescent participates in or who they engage in an activity with – but how well-connected parents stay to the adolescent during their free time that matters. Furthermore, this study reported a negative relationship between PASI and age, whereby younger adolescents reported higher levels of PASI when compared to older adolescents. When considering how PASI was measured in this study, it placed emphasis on both parent autonomy support and involvement. Older youth may have framed this as general parent

involvement, which we would expect a decrease in with age (Green, Walker, Hoover-Dempsey, & Sandler, 2007). Given the evidence that parental involvement decreases with age, Strawhun et al. (2014) contend that the introduction to after school and summer learning opportunities may encourage parents to utilize resources that are consistent with their expectations as reflected in the missions of local schools and agencies in rural communities.

The findings say much about the area from which the sample was drawn—a remote rural, southeastern community that relies heavily on agriculture and fishing. Youth living in rural areas face many challenges both in terms of economic and recreation services. Important barriers to recreation services in rural communities include isolation, lack of access to places with recreation activity opportunities, climate and terrain, cost, and exposure to outdoor opportunities in and around the home(Yousefian, Ziller, Swartz, & Hartley, 2008). Important barriers to economic services, in relation to recreational services, in rural communities include dispersed population with limited community-funding and a lack of a sufficient tax base to support new or existing programs or events (Yousefian et al., 2008).

When designing opportunities for youth, geographic isolation within rural areas presents the need for social network systems and social capital building structures as strategies for prosperity and progress (Putnam, 2000; Rojek, 2005). Adolescents' leisure pursuits are considered one of the principal institutions through which social capital is accumulated (Putnam, 2000; Rojeck, 2005). Further, community constructs with active and established social capital and social network systems (i.e., sports, structured leisure activities) promote the enhancement of health and well-being through participation. Leisure activities create social capital through the establishment of a community ethos. These subtle connotations can introduce adolescents to community values and ethics while facilitating socialization within the community (Fabiansson,

2005). Schools in rural communities play a central role in the affirmation and development of leisure for youth (Alpe & Barthes, 2014) and may directly affect the quality of life in these environments as well (Oncescu, 2014; Roult, Auger, Royer, & Adjizian, 2016).

Another condition to consider with respect to the sampling area is availability of opportunities. Current literature (i.e., Fawcett, Garton, and Dandy, 2009) has dichotomized activities based on specific elements, structured (e.g., adult-supervised, goal-directed) and unstructured (e.g., lack adult supervision and monitoring) activities exist in the out-of-school context. However, the activity profiles from this study underscore the types of opportunities available in this rural county, which were either school-based or home-based. These two activity profile groups only differed on their participation rates for school-based opportunities. No differences were observed in their levels of what this study is classifying as home-based or nonschool based activities. While no relationship existed on levels of free time intrinsic motivation, some concern exists for the vast majority of the sample who are missing out on the enrichment opportunities provided through school-based extracurricular programs like sports and the after school program within this particular school district. This is particularly true for younger adolescents who lack the skills to structure and endure challenges in free time environments (Caldwell & Baldwin, 2005). A major argument for after school programs is that they satisfy the need for adult supervision and monitoring for adolescents who need structure and support.

Quality after school programs, including sports and summer learning programs, are critical systems of support that can help balance opportunity at all levels. After school programs provide students with a number of supports, including a safe-environment, academically enriching activities, mentors who care about them and to whom students can look up to, healthy snacks and meals, and opportunities for physical activities (Burkhart, 2013; Tambasco, 2016).

Though viewed as student-centered, after school programs provide parents additional opportunities to become more involved in their child's education, recreational habits, and personal choices. In rural areas, specifically, consistent participation in high-quality after school programs has been shown to help students improve their work habits and demonstrate higher levels of persistence - while also closing the achievement gap between low-income youth and their more affluent peers (Tambasco, 2016). After school settings are becoming increasingly recognized as having potential to contribute to positive youth development (Carruthers, 2006; Noam, 2003; Tambasco, 2016). Noam (2003) refers to after school programs as a bridge for the adolescent worlds (Tambasco, 2016). As Tambasco (2016) notes, adolescents traverse multiple worlds each day: cultural, familial, peer, and academic. Therefore, after school programs should work in tandem with one another with the intention of connecting these worlds to support learning – and for those connections to become more meaningful and relevant to their lived experiences (Cooper, 2011; Noam, 2003). Self-contained after school programs, as well as community-programs, offer many developmental benefits that strive to connect the four adolescent worlds (i.e., cultural, familial, peer, and academic) and help youth to investigate and participate in a safe and supportive environment (Tambasco, 2016).

Despite the many developmental benefits associated with after school programming, the home setting has been considered the first, and perhaps most essential, context for positive youth development. Within the home environment, parents are often the primary socialization agents — and most invested adults — within the lives of youth (Ward & Zabriskie, 2011). As Ward and Zabriskie found, parental involvement is one of the strongest protective factors an adolescent can have related to maximizing his or her potential — and intrinsic motivation. Positive interaction within the family clearly provides the context that has the potential to play the most significant

role when considering experiences that can foster meaningful relationships and influence all aspects of a youth's environment (Rutten, Boen, & Seghers, 2015). When considering this sample, youth who head home to situations where adults or other parents are present benefit from shared time with these adults. According to Zabriskie and McCormick (2001), shared leisure may be one of the few experiences that bring family members together for any significant amount of time.

Involving adolescents, particularly those from low-income communities, in structured after school programs may be a challenging task. It is estimated that children, from families who live 100 to 200 percent below the federal poverty line, are three to four times more likely than children from higher income families to not be involved in out-of-school-time activities (Theokas & Bloch, 2006). Structured after school programs are oftentimes competing with family and non-family-related activities (i.e., chores, babysitting, and participating in sports and/or religious activities) (Terzian, Giesen, & Mbwana, 2009). For this reason, sustaining participation is a major challenge for structured after school programs. Additional research suggests that low-income youth are less likely to participate in out-of-school activities and that when they do, they participate less frequently (Terzian et al., 2009).

The framework of Self-Determination Theory (SDT) provided a lens upon which to examine the findings of this study (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Specific to this study, the satisfaction of the three basic psychological needs (i.e., autonomy, competence, relatedness) explain patterns for initiating and maintaining participation – as well as motivation – in free time activities. Parent autonomy support and involvement provides access and opportunity for an adolescent to participate in free time activities, while also offering support when motivation to endure or initiative wanes is crucial (Hutchinson, Baldwin, & Caldwell, 2003; Watts & Caldwell, 2008).

In other words, it is more important as to how involved the parent(s) are than what youth participate in. For instance: parents of a high school-aged youth encourage him/her to try out for the marching band. The adolescent does not believe it is right activity to pursue. However, the parents are highly involved in the decision process and encourage him/her to do so. With time, the adolescent develops skills (competence), makes friends and feels comfortable in the environment (relatedness), and eventually recognizes that the ultimate choice to maintain participation was their own (autonomy).

This study observed a link between parental involvement and intrinsic motivation. These two variables often work in tandem to maintain participation in free time (Larson, 2000; Fawcett, 2007). Typically, parents enroll their children in after school programs to reap the academic and social gains associated with participation. Effective after school programs bring a wide range of benefits to youth, families, and communities. After school programs can boost academic performance, reduce risky behavior, promote physical health, and provide a safe, structured environment for youth (Mahoney, Lord, & Carryl, 2005). After school programs provide connection and engagement with others. Furthermore, after school programs fill a void for rural youth who often report boredom and want experiences that get them beyond boredom (Terzian, Giesen, & Mbwana, 2009). After school programs and sports supported these motives, which were a basis for initiation and continued participation in these activities (Holt, 2008). However, Burkhart's study on rural youths' leisure constraints demonstrate that after school might not be a viable option for youth who failed to make the sports team, lacked transportation to and from the activity, or had to take care of personal matters. Even if after school activity participation is not an option, structured experiences supported by community-based groups like churches or civicoriented agencies (e.g., Boy Scouts/Girl Scouts) appeal to intrinsic and internalized motives of

youth (Larson, 2000). Coupled with task demands, these motives help youth endure through challenges to continue participation in structured experiences – in this case, home-based activity participation. This type of experience translates well into adulthood, as adults must learn to persevere through far more serious challenges related to work and family life.

Within urban areas, youth are typically excluded from labor markets and are sheltered from adulthood (Hendry et al., 2002). Contrarily, youth in geographically isolated regions tend to have a higher percentage of developed tangible and intangible skills due to their time assisting family members and community leaders (Furstenberg, 2000). In modern society, adolescence is promoted as a time when youth can be adventurous by exploring new things; however, they are also criticized for being selfish, reckless, and socially irresponsible (Farkas et al., 1997). To balance this perception, Roberts (1999) observed that leisure opportunities, whether structured or unstructured, can be seen as a means of expressing a youthful sense of adventure – while simultaneously promoting positive youth development.

The internal capacity of goals and aspirations, gained from exploring interests, provides a substantive motive onto which youth find resolve to persevere (Bandura, 1994). However, the expectations and influence of adults, particularly parents, proved to be nearly as essential to participation as the goals and aspirations of youth (Hutchinson et al., 2003; Ryan & Deci, 2000). This is especially true for youth in early adolescence, who need parental structuring and guidance before they can learn to internalize the values and goals associated with the behaviors they adopt (Hutchinson et al.).

Implications for Future Research

Although the importance and scope of family and adolescent-based leisure within an urban or suburban context has been a topic of research, little attention is devoted to the families

and/or adolescents who reside in rural areas (Hornosty & Doherty, 2003). This study suggests that the meanings and experiences of adolescent home-based leisure may be distinct from urban families. Several compelling reasons exist to explore adolescent home-based leisure in the rural context. First, many families in urban areas are not only bound through kinship but also through business relationships (i.e., farming) (Trussell & Shaw, 2009). Thus, economic and social hardships are detrimental to the interconnectedness of family life and adolescent leisure participation – due to the close proximity of familial ties and relationships (Trussell & Shaw, 2009). Second, life in rural communities has often been described as the rural dull due to a lack of cultural and leisure facilities (Haugen & Villa, 2006). These differences in environments, between urban and rural communities, suggest that residing in the rural context may alter the adolescents' leisure opportunities, contexts and meanings – as well as the family's involvement in leisure opportunities (Trussell & Shaw, 2009). Lastly, this study did not fully take advantage of important demographic variables under analysis. Data for both gender and race were collected, but not examined under this study's focus. Future studies should consider how gender and age relate to the variables under study, as well as the interactions these two variables have with age. Adolescence is developmentally broad in its outcomes and tasks, and this study only scratches the surface with respect to developmental variation between early and mid/late adolescence.

Study Limitations

The most significant limitation is the limited generalizability of the sample. Hyde County, North Carolina is rural and remote with a population density that averages nine people per square mile (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). The sparsity of recreational and leisure opportunities, both commercial and private, limits overall adolescent engagement. In addition to

a lack of physical resources, residents of Hyde County, North Carolina are also subject to financial and occupational constraints that may hinder recreational participation. Another potential limitation of the study is the use of a cross-sectional design. Parenting practices, motivation and recreation participation vary over time, and this study is only capturing participation at a specific point in time. The study may have included responses from youth on two occasions as data were collected from middle and high school students twice over a three-year period. The study was stripped of identifiers, and this prevented a longitudinal analysis for these individuals. Finally, all of the captured perceptions regarding free time motivation are collected from the perspective of the adolescent rather than reported by the parent. Findings of the study may have been strengthened if parental reports were included.

Recommendations for Practice

It is important to recognize that the county under study is highly centralized in service provision to the community. This is especially true to the mainland where distance puts a strain on youth who live far away. The county needs to consider the feasibility of offering services in the more remote areas. Conducting a community inventory and identifying places where shared use can happen is an important first-step.

Rural communities, similar to those within Hyde County, North Carolina, promote positive social and developmental change through the shared use of their facilities and campuses (Talmage, Figueroa, & Wolfersteig, 2018). Joint-use agreements, also known as shared-use agreements, may provide pathways to greater community well-being – specifically through supplying space and amenities for physical and social activities for youth, adolescents, and adults (Talmage, Figueroa, & Wolfersteig, 2018). Shared use may occur through an informal arrangement or may involve a formal written contract (i.e., joint-use agreement) between a

school district and another entity, such as a municipality, county, or nonprofit organization. To put it differently, community centers, volunteer fire departments, public libraries, and churches may establish joint-use agreements with a municipality through informal or formal means (Leslie et al., 2016). These facilities can provide ample indoor and outdoor recreational and gatherings spaces for youth, adolescents, and adults to congregate, exercise, and learn together (Talmage, Figueroa, & Wolfersteig, 2018). The shared use of such facilities can also provide safe and affordable places for communities. Joint-use agreements may vary, but consistent benefits have been identified for rural and urban stakeholders (Young et al., 2014).

REFERENCES

- Afterschool Alliance (2009). America After 3PM: The most in-depth study of how America's children spend their afternoons. Washington, D.C. Retrieved from http://afterschoolalliance.org/documents/issue_briefs/issue_KeepingKidsSafe_65.pdf.
- Alpe, Y. & Barthes, A. (2014). Rural Students Coping with Territories' Stigmatization. *Agora Débats/Jeunesses*, 68(1), 7–23.
- Baldwin, C. K., & Caldwell, L. L. (2003). Development of the free time motivation scale for adolescents. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 35(2), 129-151.
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V.S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Human Behavior* (Vol. 4, pp. 71-81). New York: Academic Press. (Reprinted in H. Friedman [Ed.], *Encyclopedia of Mental Health*. Sand Diego: Academic Press, 1998).
- Barber, B. K. (2002). *Intrusive parenting: how psychological control affects children and adolescents*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Barber, B. L., Stone, M. R., & Eccles, J. S. (2005). Adolescent participation in organized activities. In K. A. Moore & L. H. Lippman (Eds.), What Do Children Need to Flourish:

 Conceptualizing and Measuring Indicators or Positive Development (pp. 133-146). New York, New York: Springer.
- Bartko, T. W. & Eccles, J. S. (2003). Adolescent participation in structured and unstructured activities: a person-oriented analysis. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 32(4), 233-241.
- Bastable, S. B., & Dart, M. A. (2007). Developmental stages of the learner (2nd ed.). *Jones and Bartlett Publishers*, 1-52.

- Bergman, L. R., and El-Khouri, B. M. (1995). *SLEIPNER: A statistical package for pattern-oriented analyses* (Version 1.0) [Computer software]. Authors, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (1998). The ecology of developmental processes. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (pp. 993-1028). Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Burkhart, J. L. (2013). Factors determining structured activity participation in rural youth: internal capacities, microsystem support, and constraint negotiation (Master's thesis). Retrieved from http://thescholarship.ecu.edu/bitstream/handle/10342/4383/Burkhart_ecu_0600O_11107. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Caldwell, L., & Baldwin, C. (2005). A developmental approach to understanding constraints to adolescent leisure. In E. Jackson (Ed.) *Constraints to leisure*, (pp. 75-88). State College, PA: Venture.
- Caldwell, L. L., & Witt, P. A. (2011). Leisure, recreation, and play from a developmental context. In G. G. Noam (Eds.), *Recreation as a Developmental Experience* (pp. 13-27). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Medical School.
- Carruthers, C. (2006). Processes and outcomes of an after-school program for adolescent girls. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 24(4), 127-152.
- Catalano, R.F. (2015). History of positive youth development programs and outcomes in the United States. *University of Washington: School of Social Work*, 1-25.
- Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.S., & Hawkins, J.D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: research findings on evaluations of positive

- youth development programs. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 591(1), 98-124.
- Catalano, R.F., et al. (2012). Worldwide application of prevention science in adolescent health. *The Lancet*, 379(9836), 1653-1664.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). The association between school based physical activity, including physical education, and academic performance. Atlanta, GA:

 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Coatsworth, J. D., & Conroy, D. E. (2009). The effects of autonomy-supportive coaching, need satisfaction, and self-perceptions on initiative and identity in youth swimmers.

 *Developmental Psychology, 45(2), 320-328.
- Cooper, C. R. (2011). Bridging multiple worlds: cultures, identities, and pathways to college.

 Oxford University Press.
- Cooper, H., Valentine, J. C., Nye, B., & Lindsay, J. (1999). Relationships between five after-school activities and academic achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(2), 369-378.
- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(1), 98 104.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). Flow: the psychology of optimal experience. New York: Harper & Row.
- Damon, W. (2004). What is positive youth development? *Annals of American Academy of Political and Social Sciences*, 59(1), 13-24.
- Darling, N., Caldwell, L. L., & Smith, R. (2005). Participation in school-based extracurricular activities and adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 37(1), 51-76.

- Dishman, R. K., McIver, K. L., Dowda, M., Saunders, R. P., Pate, R. R. (2015). Motivation and behavioral regulation of physical activity in middle-school students. *Medical Science Sports Exercise*, 47(9), 1913-1921.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. *American Psychologist*, 7(2).
- Deci, E. L., Vallerand, R. J., Pelletier, L. G., & Ryan, R. M. (1991). Motivation and education: the self-determination perspective. *Educational Psychologist*, 26(3), 325-346.
- Dotterweich, J. (2015). Positive youth development 101: a curriculum for youth work professionals. *Cornell University: College of Human Ecology*, 1-73.
- Dworkin, J. B., Larson, R., & Hansen, D. (2003). Adolescents' accounts of growth experiences in youth activities. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 32(1), 17-26.
- Eccles, J. S., & Barber, B. L. (2003). Extracurricular activities and adolescent development. *Journal of Social Issues*, 59(4), 865-889.
- Eccles, J. S., & Barber, B. L. (1999). Student council, volunteering, basketball, or marching band: what kind of extracurricular activity matters? *Journal on Adolescent Research*, 14(1), 10-43.
- Everitt, B. S., Landau, S., & Leese, M. (2001). *Cluster analysis*. London, England: Halsted Press.
- Fabiansson, C. (2005). Youths' leisure milieus in rural settings gender equality in utilization of leisure opportunities. *Annals of Leisure Research*, 8(1), 23-37.
- Farkas, S., Johnson, J., Duffett, A., and Bers, A. (1997). Kids these days: what Americans really think about the next generation. New York, Public Agenda.

- Fawcett, L. M. (2007). School's out: adolescent 'leisure time' activities, influences and consequences. (Master's thesis). Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/2cd2/8af9a253123c815c742267b1ec9e9a245161.pdf.
- Fawcett, L. M., Garton, A. F., & Dandy, J. (2009). Role of motivation, self-efficacy and parent support in adolescent structured leisure activity participation. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 61(3), 175-182.
- Finkenauer C, Engels RC, Meeus W. (2002). Keeping secrets from parents: advantages and disadvantages of secrecy in adolescence. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 2(1), 123–136.
- Foster, T. D., Froyen, L. C., Skibbe, L. E., Bowles, R. P., & Decker, K. B. (2016). Fathers' and mothers' home learning environments and children's early academic outcomes. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 29(9), 1845-1863.
- Furstenberg F. F. (2000). The sociology of adolescence and youth in the 1990s: a critical commentary. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62(1), 896–910.
- Gibson, E., & Rader, N. (1979). Attention: the perceiver as performer. In G. A. Hale & M. Lewis (Eds.), *Attention and Cognitive Development* (pp. 1-21). New York, New York: Plenum Press.
- Gilman, R., Meyers, J. and Perez, L. (2004). Structured Extracurricular Activities among

 Adolescents: Findings and Implications for School Psychologists. *Psychology in Schools*,

 41(1), 31-41.
- Green, C. L., Walker, J., Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., & Sandler, H. M. (2007). Parents' motivations for involvement in children's education: An empirical test of a theoretical model of parent involvement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(1), 532-544.

- Green, K., Smith, A., and Roberts, K. (2005) Young people and lifelong participation in sport and physical activity: a sociological perspective on contemporary physical education programs in England and Wales. *Leisure Studies*, 24(1), 27-43.
- Grolnick, W. S. (2003). *The psychology of parental control: how well-meant parenting backfires*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Publishers.
- Grolnick, W. S. (2016). Parental involvement and children's academic motivation and achievement. Building Autonomous Learners: Perspectives from Research and Practice using Self-Determination Theory, (1st ed.), 169-183.
- Grolnick W. S., Farkas, M. S., Sohmer, R., Michaels, S., & Valsiner, J. (2007). Facilitating motivation in young adolescents: effects of an after-school program. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 332-344.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Pomerantz, E. M. (2009). Issues and challenges in studying parental control:

 Toward a new conceptualization. *Child Development Perspectives*, 3(3), 165-170.
- Grolnick, W. S., Raftery-Helmer, J. N., Marbell, K. N., Flamm, E. S., Cardemil, E. V., & Sanchez, M. (2014). Parental provision of structure: implementation and correlates in three domains. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 60(3), 355-384.
- Grolnick, W. S., Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L. (1991). Inner resources for school achievement: motivational mediators of children's perceptions of their parents. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83(4), 508-517.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Ryan, R.M. (1989). Parent styles associated with children's self-regulation and competence in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 41(2), 143-154.
- Gustafon, S. L., & Rhodes, R. E. (2006). Parental correlates of physical activity in children and early adolescents. *Sports Medicine*, 36(1), 79-97.

- Hamilton, S. F., Hamilton M. A., & Pittman, K. (2004). Principles for youth development. *The Youth Development Handbook: Coming of Age in American Communities*, 19(1), 3-17.
- Harman, B., & Harms, C. (2017). Predictors of unstructured play amongst preschool children in Australia. *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, 42(3), 31-37.
- Harter, S. (1985). *Manual for the self-perception profile for children*. Denver, CO: University of Denver.
- Haugen, M. S., & Villa, M. (2006). Rural idylls or boring places? In B. Bock & S. Shortall (Eds.)

 Rural Gender Relations: Issues and Case Studies (pp. 181-196). Wallingford, Oxon,

 United Kingdom
- Henderson, A. T., & Mapp, K. L. (2002). A new wave of evidence: The impact of school, family, and community connections on student achievement. Austin, TX: National Center for Family and Community Connections with Schools.
- Hendry, L. B., Kleop, M, Espnes, G. A., Ingbrigtsen, J. E., Glendinning, A. & Wood, S. (2002).

 Leisure transitions a rural perspective. *Leisure Studies*, 21(1), 1-14.
- Holt, N. L. (2008). *Positive Youth Development Through Sport*. New York City, New York: Routledge
- Holt, N. L., Tamminen, K. A., Black, D. E., Mandigo, J. L., & Fox, K. R. (2009). Youth sport parenting styles and practices. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 31(1), 57-59.
- Hornosty, J. & Doherty, D. (2003). Responding to wife abuse in farm and rural communities: searching for solutions that work. In R. Blake & A. Nurse (Eds.) *The Trajectories of Rural Life: New perspectives on Rural Canada*, (pp. 37–54). Regina,

 Saskatchewan: Saskatchewan Institute of Public Policy.

- Hui, E. K. P., & Tsang, S. K. M. (2011). Self-determination as a psychological and positive youth development construct. *Journal of Alternative Medicine Research*, 4(4), 401-410.
- Hutchinson, S. L., Baldwin, C. K., & Caldwell, L. L. (2003). Differentiating parent practices related to adolescent behavior in the free time context. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 35(4), 396-422.
- Joussemet, M., Landry, R., & Koestner, R. (2008). A self-determination theory perspective on parenting. *Canadian Psychology*, 49(3), 194-200.
- Kane, M. J., & Barnett, L. A. (1985). Environmental constraints on children's play. In M. G.Wade (Ed.), *Constraints on Leisure* (pp. 189-225). Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Kao, T. S. A., & Salerno, J. (2014). Keeping adolescents busy with extracurricular activities. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 30(1), 57-67.
- Kerr, M., & Stattin., H. (2000). What parents know, how they know it, and several forms of adolescent adjustment: Further support for a reinterpretation of monitoring. *Developmental Psychology*, 36(1), 366–80.
- Kleiber, D. A. (1999). Leisure experience and human development: a dialectical interpretation.

 New York, New York: Basic Books.
- Kleop, M., & Hendry, L. (2003). Adult control and adolescent challenge? Dilemmas and paradoxes in young people's leisure. *World Leisure Journal*, 45(7), 24-34.
- Larson, R. W. (2000). Towards a positive psychology of positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, 55, 170-183.
- Larson, R. W., & Kleiber, D. A. (1993). Daily experience of adolescents. In P. H. Tolan & B. J. Cohler (Eds.), *Handbook of Clinical Research and Practice with Adolescents* (pp. 125-145). New York: Wiley.

- Larson, R. W., & Richards, M. (1991). Daily companionship in late child- hood and early adolescence: changing developmental contexts. *Child Development*, 62(2), 284-300.
- Larson, R. W., & Verma, S. (1999). How children and adolescents spend time across the world: work, play, and developmental opportunities. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125, 701-736.
- Leslie, K. F., King, K. M., Wilson, R. W., Gagne, P., & Jones, V. F. (2016). Parent perceptions of a child's physical activity initiative in a rural community. *American Journal of Health Studies*, 31(2), 103-112.
- Lyman, S., Banks, A., Hahn, A., Harding, J., Keenan, L., Ludy-Dobson, C., Phillips, S., & Smit, M. (1996). Panel A: readiness research on independent living. In E. V. Mech & J. R. Rycraft (Eds.), *Preparing Foster Youths for Adult Living: Proceedings of an Invitational Research Conference* (pp. 45-51). Washington, DC: Child Welfare League of America.
- Mageau, G. A., Ranger, F., Joussemet, M., Moreau, E., Koestner, R., & Forest, J. (2015).

 Validation of the perceived parental autonomy support scale (P-PASS). *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 47(3), 251-262.
- Mahoney, J. L., Eccles, J. S., & Larson, R. W. (2004). Processes of adjustment in organized outof-school activities: opportunities and risks. In G. G. Noam (Eds.), *After School Worlds: Creating a New Social Space for Development and Learning* (pp. 115-144). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Graduate School of Education.
- Mahoney, J. L., Lord, H., & Carryl, E. (2005). An ecological analysis of after-school program participation and the development of academic performance and motivational attributes for disadvantaged children. *Child Development*, 76(4), 811-825.

- Mahoney, J. L., & Stattin, H. (2000). Leisure activities and adolescent antisocial behavior: the role of structure and social context. *Journal of Adolescence*, 23(2), 113-127.
- Malo, S., Viñas, F., González-Carrasco, M., Casas, & Alsinet, C. (2018). Assessment of free time motivation on a sample of 11 to 18-year-old Catalan speaking Spanish adolescents. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 21(24), 1-13.
- Marsh, H. (1992). Extracurricular activities: beneficial extension of the traditional curriculum of subversion academy goals. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84(4), 553-562.
- Martino, S. C., Ellickson, P. L., & McCaffrey, D. F. (2009). Multiple trajectories of peer and parental influence and their association with the development of adolescent heavy drinking. *Addictive* Behaviors, 34(8), 693-700.
- McDavid, L., Cox, A. E., Amorose, A. J. (2012). The relative roles of physical education teachers and parents in adolescents' leisure-time physical activity motivation and behavior. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 13(1), 99-107.
- Meeks, C. B., & Mauldin, T. (1990). Children's time in structured and unstructured leisure activities. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 11(3), 257-281.
- Moody, J. J. (2012). Leisure-time physical activity participation of rural youth: a test of self-determination theory (Master's thesis). Retrieved from http://thescholarship.ecu.edu/bitstream/handle/10342/1761/Moody_ecu_0600M_10869.p df;sequence=1.
- Mundy, L. K., et al. (2013). Study protocol: the childhood to adolescence transition study (CATS). *BMC Pediatrics*, 13(160).

- National Association of County & City Officials. (2018). Statement of policy: comprehensive adolescent health. (NACCHO No. 17-03). Washington, DC; Public Health Printing Office.
- Nichols-Anderson, C. (2000). The effects of parental practices and acculturation upon sexual risk taking among Latino adolescents (Order No. 9987362). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (304663704).
- Niemiec, C. P., Lynch, M. F., Vansteenkiste, M., Berstein, J., Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2006).

 The antecedents and consequences of autonomous self-regulation for college: a self-determination theory perspective on socialization. *Journal of Adolescence*, 29(5), 761-775.
- Niera, C. J. (2014). Leisure time experiences in structured extracurricular activities and social networking sites predict adolescent self-concept. *Murdoch University: School of Psychology*, 5-218.
- Noam, G. G. (2003). Learning with excitement: bridging school and after-school worlds and project-based learning. *New Directions for Youth Development*, 2003(97), 121–138.
- Nollan, K. A., Wolf, M., Bums D. A. J., Barr, L., Copeland, W., & Paddock, G. (2000). Ready or not: assessing youths' preparedness for independent living. *Child Welfare*, 79(2), 159-176.
- Nystrom, R. J., Prata, A., & Ramowski, S.K. (2008). Measuring positive youth development: the development of a state benchmark. *Journal of Youth Development*, 3(1), 26-42.
- Oncescu, J. (2014). The impact of rural school's closure on community resiliency. *Leisure*, 38(1), 35–52.

- Osgood, D. W., Anderson, A. L., & Shaffer, J. N. (2005). Unstructured leisure in the after-school hours. In J. L. Mahoney, R. W. Larson, & J. S. Eccles (Eds.), *Organized Activities as Contexts of Development: Extracurricular Activities, After-School and Community Programs* (pp. 45–64). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Pittman, K., Irby, M., Tolman, J., Yohalem, N., & Ferber, T. (2003). *Preventing problems,*promoting development, encouraging engagement: Competing priorities or inseparable goals? Washington, DC: Forum for Youth Investment.
- Pittman, K. J., Irby, M., Yohalem, N., & Wilson-Ahlstrom, A. (2004). Blurring the lines for learning: the role of out-of-school programs as compliments to formal learning. *New Directions for Youth Development*, 2004(101), 19-41.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Reynolds, A. J. & Ou, S. R. (2003). Promoting resilience through early childhood intervention: adaptation in the context of childhood adversities. In S. S. Luthar (Ed.), *Resilience and Vulnerability: Adaptation in the Context of Childhood Adversities*, 436-459.
- Rhodes, J. E. (2004). The critical ingredient: caring youth-staff relationships in after-school settings. In G. G. Noam (Eds.), *After School Worlds: Creating a New Social Space for Development and Learning* (pp. 145-161). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Graduate School of Education.
- Robbins, R. J. (1994). An assessment of perceptions of parental autonomy support and control: child and parent correlates (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Rochester, Rochester, New York.

- Roberts, K. (1999). *Leisure in contemporary society*. Wallingford, Oxon, United Kingdom: CABI Pub.
- Roberts, K. and Brodie, D. (1992) *Inner-City Sport: Who Plays and What are the Benefits?*Culemborg: Giordano Bruno.
- Roisman, G. I., Masten, A.S., Coatsworth, J.D., & Tellegen, A. (2004). Salient and emerging developmental tasks in the transition to adulthood. *Childhood Development*, 75(1), 123-133.
- Rojek, C. (2005). An outline of the action approach to leisure studies. Leisure Studies, 24(1), 13-25.
- Roth, G. (2008). Perceived parental conditional regard and autonomy support as predictors of young adults' self-versus other-oriented prosocial tendencies. *Journal of Personality*, 76(3), 513-533.
- Roth, J. L. & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2003). What exactly is a youth development program? answers from research and practice. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(2), 94-111.
- Roult, R., Auger, D., Royer, C., & Adjizian, J.M. (2016). Recreational needs and practices of youth living in rural areas in Quebec: views and concerns of stakeholders and parents.

 Journal of rural Social Science, 31(1), 24 51.
- Rutten, C., Boen, F., & Seghars, J. (2015). Changes in children's autonomous motivation toward physical education during transition from elementary to secondary school: a self-determination perspective. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 34(3).
- Ryan, R. M., & Connell, J. P. (1989). Perceived locus of causality and internalization: examining reasons for acting in two domains. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(5), 749-761.

- Ryan, R.M. & Deci, E.L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68-78.
- Ryan, R. M., & Grolnick, W. S. (1986). Origins and pawns in the classroom: self-report and projective assessments of individual differences in children's perceptions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(3), 550-558.
- Ryan, R.M., Stiller, J. D., & Lynch, J. H. (1994). Representations of relationships to teachers, parents, and friends as predictors of academic motivation and self-esteem. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 14(2), 226-249.
- Safvenbom, R., & Samdahl, D. M. (1998). Involvement in and perception of the free time context for adolescents in youth protection institutions. *Journal of Leisure Studies*, 17(3), 207-226.
- Sanders, R. A. (2013). Adolescent psychosocial, social, and cognitive development. *Pediatrics in Review*, 34(8), 354-360.
- Scott, D. (2012). Serious leisure and recreation specialization: an uneasy marriage. *Leisure Sciences*, 34(4), 366-371.
- Shannon, C. S. (2006). Parents' messages about the role of extracurricular and unstructured leisure activities: adolescents' perceptions. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 38(3), 398-420.
- Shannon, C. S. (2016). Exploring factors influencing girls' continued participation in competitive dance. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 48(4), 284-306.
- Sharp, E. H., Caldwell, L. L., Graham, J. W., Ridenour, T. A. (2006). Individual motivation and parental influence on adolescents' experiences of interest in free time: a longitudinal examination. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(3), 359-372.

- Sharp, E. H., Tucker, C. J., Baril, M. E., Van Gundy, K. T., & Rebellon, C. J. (2014). Breadth of participation in organized and unstructured leisure activities over time and rural adolescents' functioning. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(1), 62-76.
- Shelton, K., Frick, P., & Wootton, J. (1996). Assessment of parenting practices in families of elementary school-aged children. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 25(3), 317-329.
- Siegler, A. L. (1997). The essential guide to the new adolescence: how to raise an emotionally healthy teenager. *Using Literature to Help Troubled Teenagers Cope with Health Issues* (1st ed.), (244)36, 101-102.
- Simons, L. G., & Conger, R. D. (2007). Linking mother-father differences in parenting to a typology of family parenting styles and adolescent outcomes. *Journal of Family Issues*, 28(2), 212-241.
- Smetana, J., & Daddis, C. (2002). Domain-specific antecedents of parental psychological control and monitoring: The role of parenting beliefs and practices. *Child Development*, 73(2), 563-580.
- Soenens, B., Petegem, S. V., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2017). *Autonomy in adolescent development:* towards conceptual clarity. London, England: Psychology Press.
- Soenens, B., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2010). A theoretical upgrade of the concept of parental psychological control: proposing new insights on the basis of self-determination theory.

 Developmental Review, 3(1), 74-99.
- Spera, C. (2005). A review of the relationship among parenting practices, parenting styles, and adolescent school achievement. Educational Psychology Review, 17(2), 125-146.

- Strahan, D. B., L'Esperance, M, & Van Hoose, J. (2009). *Promoting harmony: young adolescent development & classroom practices*. Columbus, Ohio: National Middle School Association.
- Strawhun, J., Olson, A., Kane, L., & Peterson, R. L. (2014). Parent and Family Involvement.

 University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Stevens, G. W. J. M., Vollebergh, W. A. M., Pels, T. V. M., Crijnen, A. A. M. (2007). Parenting and internalizing and externalizing problems in Moroccan immigrant youth in the Netherlands. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 36(5), 685-695.
- Stevens, J. P. (2012). Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis. In *Applied multivariate* statistics for the social sciences (pp. 337-406). Routledge.
- Sun, R. C. F., & Hui, E. K. P. (2012). Cognitive competence as a positive youth development construct: a conceptual review. *The Scientific World Journal*, 4(4), 371-380.
- Talmage, C. A., Figueroa, H. L., & Wolfersteig, W. L. (2018). Perceptions of expanded shared use of schools: A mixed method examination of pathways and barriers to community well-being. *School Community Journal*, 28(2), 297-319.
- Tambasco, D. (2016). *Making a Difference: A study of a rural positive youth development after* school program for adolescent young women (Doctoral dissertation). University of California at Davis: Davis, California.
- Terzian, M., Giesen, L., & Mbwana, K. (2009). Why teens are not involved in out-of-school time programs: the youth perspective. *Child Trends*, 38(1).
- Theokas, C., & Bloch, M. (2006). Out-of-school time is critical for children: who participates in programs? Washington, DC: Child Trends.

- Trussell, D. E., & Shaw, S. M. (2009). Changing family life in the rural context: women's perspectives of family leisure on the farm. *Leisure Sciences*, 31(5).
- Turner, G., Rudz, T., & Bertolacci, L. (2018). Strength and conditioning coaching practice and positive youth athletic development: context-specific application of the developmental relationships framework. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 40(6), 49-55.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). Hyde county, North Carolina population characteristics. 2010-2017 American Community Survey 10-year estimates. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/hydecountynorthcarolina.
- Vance, F. (2018). Understanding adolescents' skill building in the after-school context. *Youth & Society*, 50(7), 966-988.
- Van Petegem, S., Beyers, W., Vansteenkiste, M., & Soenens, B. (2012). On the association between adolescent autonomy and psychosocial functioning: examining decisional independence from a self-determination theory perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 76-88.
- Vansteenkiste, M., & Ryan, R. M. (2013). On psychological growth and vulnerability: Basic psychological need satisfaction and need frustration as a unifying principle. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 23(3), 263-280.
- Villarruel, F. A. & Lerner, R. M. (1994). Development and context and the contexts of learning.
 In E. L. Grigorenko (Eds.), *Envisioning the Integration of an Intersectional Lens in Developmental Science* (pp. 3-10). New Haven, CT: Yale University Department of Psychology.
- Wang, L. (2017). Using the self-determination theory to understand Chinese adolescent leisuretime physical activity. *European Journal of Sport Science*, (17)4, 453-461.

- Ward, P. J., & Zabriskie, R. B. (2011). Positive youth development within a family leisure context: youth perspectives of family outcomes. *New Directions for Youth Development*, 130(1), 29-42.
- Wasserkampf, A., & Kleinert, J. (2016). Organismic integration as a dynamic process: a systematic review of empirical studies on change in behavioral regulations in exercise in adults. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, (9)1, 65-95.
- Watts, C. E. (2004). Predicting free time activity involvement of adolescents: the influence of adolescent motivation, adolescent initiative, and perceptions of parenting (Doctoral dissertation). Pennsylvania State University: University Park, Pennsylvania.
- Watts, C. E., & Caldwell, L. L. (2008). Self-determination and free time activity participation as predictors of initiative. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 40(1), 156-181.
- Watts, C.E., Caldwell, L.L., & Gillard, A. (2008, March). Activity profiles and relationships with parenting perceptions, adolescent motivation and initiative. *Society of Research on Adolescence's Biennial Research Conference*.
- Watts, C.E. & Shores, K.A. (2014). Community recreation and leisure services. In Schwab, KA.,
 C. Stevens, J. Murphy, L. Allen, & E.Sheffield (Eds.) A Career with Meaning:
 Introduction to Careers in Recreation, Parks, Tourism, and Leisure Services, 2nd
 Edition. Champaign, IL. Sagamore.
- Weybright, E. H., Caldwell, L. L., Ram, N., Smith, E. A., & Wegner, L. (2015). Trajectories of adolescent substance use development and the influence of healthy leisure: A growth mixture modeling approach. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49(1), 158-169.

- Winstanley, E. L., Steinwachs, D. M., Stitzer, M. L., & Fishman, M. J. (2012). Adolescent substance abuse and mental health: problem co-occurrence and access to services. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, (21)4, 310-322.
- Xie, H., Caldwell, L. L., Graham, J. W., Weybright, E. H., Wegner, L., & Smith E. A. (2016).

 Perceived parental control, restructuring ability, and leisure motivation: a cross-cultural comparison. *Leisure Sciences*, 39(4), 319-335.
- Ying, L., Ma, F., Huang, H., Guo, X., Chen, C., & Xu, F. (2015). Parental monitoring, parent-adolescent communication, and adolescents' trust in their parents in China. *PLoS ONE*, 10(8).
- Young, D. R., Spengler, J. O., Frost, N., Evenson, K. R., Vincent, J. M., & Whitsel, L. (2014).
 Promoting physical activity through the shared use of school recreational spaces: A policy statement from the American Heart Association. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(9), 1583-1588.
- Yousefian, A., Ziller, E., Swartz, J., & Hartley, D. (2008). Active living for rural youth.

 (Research & Policy Brief). Portland, ME: *University of Southern Maine, Muskie School of Public Service, Maine Rural Health Research Center*.
- Zabriskie, R., & McCormick, B. (2001). The influences of family leisure patterns on perceptions of family functioning. *Family Relations: Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 50(3), 281–289. P. 287.
- Zarrett, N., & Lerner, R. M. (2008). Ways to promote the positive development of children and youth. *Child Trends*, 11(2), 1-5.

Zlomke, K., Bauman, S., & Lamport, D. (2015). Adolescents' perceptions of parenting behavior: validation of the Alabama parenting questionnaire adolescent self-report. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 24(11), 3159-3169.

SECTION II: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW

Positive Youth Development (PYD)

Adolescence is most commonly referred to as a period of both disorientation and discovery (Bastable & Dart, 2007), and is considered a time of unprecedented cognitive and physical growth (Siegler, 1997). It is characterized by cognitive, psychosocial, and emotional development (Sanders, 2013, pp. 354). Cognitive development is the progression of thinking from the way a child does to the way an adult does. Adolescents move from being concrete thinkers, who think of things that they have direct contact with or knowledge about, to abstract thinkers, who can imagine things not seen or experienced (Sanders, 2013, pp. 354; Strahan, L'Esperance, & Van Hoose, 2009). Though this period is one of intense learning and development, it is also a high-risk period for impulsive behavior – and is often when the onset of mental health and substance abuse disorders occurs (Winstanley, Steinwachs, Stitzer, Fishman, 2012.) Milestones, often referred to as developmental tasks in adolescence, gradually progress through a series of frustrating starts and stops along the way (Roisman, Masten, Coatsworth, & Tellegen, 2004). Each developmental task is dependent on the accomplishment of other developmental tasks that empathize the development of autonomy, the establishment of identity, and future orientation; however, many researchers see human development as a lifelong process. The transition through puberty is marked by an increased risk for the onset of a range of healthrelated problems, particularly those related to the control of behavior and emotion (Mundy et. al., 2013); however, the rate of emotional and cognitive development does not parallel the rate of physical maturation in adolescents (Sanders, 2013, pp. 356). For this reason, connections among emotions and thoughts are especially powerful during early adolescence (Strahan, L'Esperance,

& Van Hoose, 2009). Asynchrony among physical, cognitive, and psychosocial development may limit adolescents' ability to perceive and judge risk effectively and may result in adolescent views that are incongruous with parents or guardians (Sanders, 2013, pp. 354); thus, adolescence is often the focus of youth development interventions due to the structural, behavioral, and emotional concerns associated with this crucial developmental stage.

Positive Youth Development (PYD) is often defined as an "...intentional, prosocial approach that engages youth within their communities, schools... and families in a manner that is productive and constructive" (Catalano, Berglund, Ryan, Lonczak, Hawkins, 2004; Turner, Rudz, Bertolacci, 2018, pp. 50). PYD, in current literature, "...recognizes, utilizes, and enhances young people's strengths while also promoting positive outcomes for youth by providing opportunities, fostering relationships, and furnishing support needed to build their leadership strengths" (Catalano, Berglund, Ryan, Lonczak, Hawkins, 2004; Turner, Rudz, Bertolacci, 2018, pp. 50). The term positive youth development is used in at least three different ways, referring to a natural process of development, principles, and practices (Hamilton, Hamilton, & Pittman, 2004). The principles of PYD emphasize the active support for the growing capacity of young people by organizations and individuals (Spera, 2005). The three most basic principles, and the most useful in current literature, are those which (a) place emphasis on a universal approach in which all youth thrive, (b) place importance on healthy relationships and challenging activities that endure and shift over time, and (c) place significance on the engagement of young people as participants rather than recipients (Hamilton, Hamilton, & Pittman, 2004).

Moreover, Pittman, Irby, Tolman, Yohalem, and Ferber (2003) contend that simply keeping youth problem free from risk/problems does not make them fully prepared to take on the responsibilities of adulthood. Therefore, engaging youth within programs is deemed essential in

accomplishing youth development. Recreation programs in the form of after school and extracurricular activities play an important role in the development of specific capacities and internal strengths that youth need for the successful transition into adulthood (Watts & Caldwell, 2008). Theories such as the Self-Determination Theory and the Theory of Reasoned Action often guide efforts that seek to identify how youth make decisions and stay motivated regardless of structural, interpersonal, or intrapersonal constraints (Martino, Ellickson & McCaffrey, 2009). As pointed out by the United Nations (2004) in its 2003 World Youth Report, "research confirms that leisure time is important in helping young people achieve a broad range of positive outcomes: social/emotional, vocational, physical, cognitive, and civic development and engagement" (Malo, Viñas, González-Carrasco, Casas, & Alsinet, 2018, pp. 1).

Youth Leisure Activities

Recreation and leisure-based youth programs are typically defined through the implementation of skill-building activities that are designed to encompass youth strengths, interests, and preferences – and are primarily tasked with promoting action and accountability (Safvenbom & Samdahl, 1998; Vance, 2018). The developmental context of recreation often describes unstructured time as discretionary time. In the United States and abroad, the discretionary time period accounts for approximately forty to fifty percent of an adolescent's waking hours (Larson, 2000). This period typically includes the after school context as well as evenings and weekends – and may extend to include extracurricular activities (Neira, 2014). Often associated with discretionary time, leisure refers to the enjoyable and personally meaningful activities that occur within the discretionary time context – and is often associated with a sense of freedom and intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Although the term leisure is often used in the literature surrounding PYD, most studies are conducted within the free time or out-of-school-time context. For this reason, this time period is used as matter of convenience for youth involvement. Rather than solely connecting adolescents to society and preventing delinquency, free time activities provide adolescents with a special opportunity to experience deep attention and consciousness regarding their actions over time (Larson & Kleiber, 1993; Malo et al., 2018; Marsh 1992; Xie et al., 2016). Comparable to work and school, free time most often entails involvement in a context (Safvenbom & Samdahl, 1998) defined through structured or unstructured activities. In other words, something is done, either alone or with someone, with or without supervision.

Structured Leisure Activities

Structured activities are those activities that are intensely engaging and supportive of personal expression (e.g., sports, volunteering, or club activities) while simultaneously supporting persistence through challenge and engagement (Shannon, 2016). Structured activities exist within a framework that offers constraints, rules, and goals (Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Larson, 2000) and are almost always monitored or supervised; however, only a select few support the development of initiative (Larson, 2000; Roth & Brooks-Gunn, 2003). Initiative, described as the devotion of cumulative effort over time to achieve a goal (Larson, 2000), requires intrinsic motivation experienced concurrently with concerted engagement over time (Larson, 2000; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). In order for initiative to develop, all three of these elements (i.e., intrinsic motivation, concerted engagement, devotion over time) need to converge. Activities that are voluntary and involve some structure are more likely to assist in the development of initiative than those that are involuntary and lack structure (Larson, 2000). Additionally, program structure and adult monitoring are also needed to ensure optimal youth

engagement. For example, Shannon (2016) observed that dance participants were more likely to engage in continued dance routines when (a) opportunities existed for flexible participation, (b) they enjoyed of the dance experience, (c) adults supervised the group when needed, and (d) structured supportive environmental factors were all present during any given day. Both non-verbal and verbal support can be offered to youth as they engage in new challenges or learn new skills – resulting in the experience of small successes in the face of bigger challenges (Shannon, 2016). Subsequent activities, with adult monitoring and structure, promote the development of competence and encourage youth to stay engaged in an activity despite challenges or setbacks. Consequently, it is through this iterative process that initiative is strengthened.

Accounting for approximately 4-6 hours per week, Larson (2000) contends that sports are the most frequent activity in this category and are crucial for the development of both awareness and initiative. Larson and Kleiber (1993) found that organized activities (e.g., sports, hobbies, arts) produce higher levels of intrinsic motivation during participation than unstructured activities. The co-occurrence of motivation and awareness, in association with structured activity participation, is often supported by Gibson and Rader's (1979) definition of 'self-generated attention'. In other words, when attention is self-directed, adolescents tend to experience higher levels of intrinsic motivation – as well as increases in the level of perceived environmental control (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990; Larson & Kleiber, 1993). This optimal experience is characterized by activities in which individuals feel strong, alert, and in control (Csikszentmihalyi, 1990); therefore, the stratification of structured activities to include various subcategories is needed to fully comprehend the element of initiative.

Accounting for differences among adolescent enjoyment and engagement, the free time context is an especially important realm in which parents and peers are able to influence

development. Socialization figures (i.e., parents, peers) have the ability to influence whether adolescents develop and adopt skills and competencies that support a healthy, responsible, and autonomous form of functioning – or whether they spend their time engaged in unproductive or maladaptive ways that deter development (Hutchinson, Baldwin, & Caldwell, 2003).

First, youth who participate in sports or sport-related activities are less likely to drop out of school – and are more likely to excel in social situations (Fawcett et. al., 2009). Sport participation provides youth with (a) structure and direction in physical pursuits, (b) cooperative and competitive exercises, (c) sport-specific skills which tend to lead to specialization, and (d) strategies for healthy-behavior development (Coatsworth & Conroy, 2009). In general, youth engaged in sports reported higher levels of resource support and direct monitoring when compared with youth highly involved in unstructured activities (Hutchinson, Baldwin, & Caldwell, 2003; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). Conversely, participation in team sports predicted greater involvement in risky behaviors (Eccles & Barber, 2003). Eccles and Barber (2003) found that both male and female athletes drank and became inebriated more often than non-athletes; however, results also highlighted the association between active sport participation and positive academic performance with regards to coach involvement. Weybright, Caldwell, Ram, Smith, and Wegner (2015) contend that adolescents' lack of ability to restructure a boring situation into something more interesting is related to higher levels of substance abuse – suggesting that leisure restructuring is vital to positive youth development and structured activity participation.

Second, individuals who became involved in extracurricular activities were less likely to drop out of school as adolescents or to become arrested as young adults than were similar young persons who were not involved (Mahoney & Stattin, 2000). Mahoney and Stattin (2000) also found that extracurricular activities continue to have a positive influence beyond the years of

formal schooling. Extracurricular structured activities, such as music-directed programs or academic clubs, provide youth with (a) problem-solving skills, (b) self-esteem enhancing strategies, and (c) healthy-decision making skills (Watts, Caldwell, & Gillard, 2008). Eccles and Barber (2003) posit that engagement in extracurricular activities, such as academic clubs, is related to educational and occupational outcomes. In other words, those youth who participated in academic clubs were more likely to be enrolled in college at 21 than their non-involved peers – similar to the findings of Mahoney and Stattin (2000).

Third, similar to extracurricular programs, after school programs aim to complement formal learning curricula in educational institutions under the guidance of PYD (Henderson & Mapp, 2002; Strawhun et al., 2014). They typically are designed to facilitate motivation and promote direct engagement among youth (Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, Valsiner, 2007). Consequently, after school programs provide an ideal setting in which to incorporate an autonomy-supportive context (Ryan & Grolnick, 1986; Larson, 2000; Grolnick & Ryan, 1989). Autonomy-supportive contexts allow for choice and support active problem solving in school, the classroom, and even at home (Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, Valsiner, 2007). Conversely, controlling environments pressure students and solve problems for them; thus, taking a more external stance toward their work and adopting performance rather than learning goals (Grolnick, Farkas, Sohmer, Michaels, Valsiner, 2007). Therefore, educational institutions have been expanding their strategies – and have increased the number of autonomy-supportive opportunities youth have access to.

Generally speaking, when adolescents are engaged in structured activities, they are seeking the most efficient way to achieve pre-existing objectives while simultaneously directing attention and effort toward a challenging goal (Shannon, 2006; Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Larson,

2000). When experienced over time, as previously mentioned, concerted engagement and intrinsic motivation converge to form the concept of initiative (Shannon, 2006; Larson, 2000; Watts & Caldwell, 2008). However, not all structured activity experiences lead to positive outcomes. The overemphasis of structured activities may ultimately lead to the depreciation of motivation and awareness in adolescents and children (Holt et al., 2009; Meeks & Mauldin, 1990). With too much structure, the social, emotional, and cognitive developments may be thwarted (Meeks & Mauldin, 1990) and the development of initiative may be inhibited. Recent research highlights several reasons for the overemphasis of structured activity participation. Parents typically associate structured participation with (a) safety, (b) achievement, and (c) selfdiscipline (Meeks & Mauldin; Larson & Verma, 1999); thus, the overemphasis of structured play has fluctuated in the United States over the past century due to the belief that childhood is a period strictly for the accomplishment of developmental tasks – not one for mere child's play (Harman & Harms, 2017). Contrarily, Kao and Salerno (2014) present findings which support the hypothesis that adolescents often endorse parental practices that keep them busy with activities. Therefore, distinguishing between the quality of youth experience from the quantity may be central to understanding socialization and developmental processes in youth programming (Coatsworth & Conroy, 2009). Accounting for just over 13 percent of the total time spent in free time, structured activities are perceived as having great potential to impact PYD (Larson & Verma, 1999) and assist with the development of social negotiation skills, cooperative behaviors, and initiative (Watts & Caldwell, 2008). Moreover, structured voluntary youth activities provide a fertile context for PYD, particularly the development of initiative (Larson, 2000). Unlike unstructured activity participation, structured activity participation allows for children and adolescents to come alive and engage in ways that rarely happen in other parts

of their lives (Larson, 2000); thus, making structured activities an invaluable laboratory for the study of PYD (Larson, 2000; Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Shannon, 2006).

Unstructured Leisure Activities

Unstructured activities are those activities chosen for enjoyment and overall personal interest that require low levels of engagement. They are often experiences outside of a structured setting which allow for the formation and exploration of new interests (e.g., hanging out, watching television, or going to the movies). Similar to structured leisure pursuits, unstructured activities also provide opportunities for skill and identity development (Darling, Caldwell, & Smith, 2005). However, the same qualities of the unstructured leisure context that afford opportunities for PYD can also lead to engagement in problematic risk behaviors (Osgood, Anderson, & Shaffer, 2005). For this reason, parents generally do not value unstructured social activities such as 'hanging out' (Kleop & Hendry, 2003) and fail to provide the resources that would otherwise encourage participation. The lack of allocated resources to adolescents in the form of time, attention, space, warmth, or caring may be connected to research evidence suggesting that participation in unstructured activities does not produce the same degree of positive developmental outcomes as structured activities (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Grolnick et al., 2014). However, it may be that parental monitoring, and not the activities themselves, explain when unstructured activities are of developmental value.

Research indicates that parental knowledge of adolescent time use can promote PYD – including adolescent self-regulated motivation and self-determination through balancing knowledge, facilitation, and control (Sharp, Caldwell, Graham, & Ridenour, 2006). Grolnick et al. (2014) found that when parents provided clear and consistent structure for unsupervised time, youth felt more competent to handle themselves during unsupervised time than when parents

were lower on structure. Unstructured activity participation usually occurs behind closed doors and without supervision (Kleop & Hendry, 2003) and is regarded as more appropriate for adolescent development. Current literature on the assessment of youth self-sufficiency and life skills recognizes the importance of tangible and intangible skills in adolescent development and structured free time participation (Nollan et al., 2000). Tangible skills (Lyman et al., 1996) are those skills we know or do (e.g., money management, and vocational interests) and intangible skills (Lyman et al., 1996) are those skills needed for interpersonal relationship development and involvement (e.g., decision-making, self-esteem management). Both are developed through unstructured free time participation and engagement. During unstructured free time, adolescents are able to develop new interests, try new things, and experiment with others – resulting in opportunities which promote tangible and intangible skill development. Both tangible and intangible skills must be present to provide a complete picture of optimal youth functioning during structured free time participation – and are acquired through unstructured activity engagement (Gilman, Meyers, Perez, 2004).

Activity Profile Analysis

Participation in activities provides adolescents with opportunities to develop specific skills through the interaction with others while simultaneously developing positive relationships with nurturing and caring adults. These skills tend to lead to the development of a sense of belonging with particular peer and social groups (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). Though youth activity participation is based in several disciplines (i.e., sociology, psychology), and is widely researched, a number of studies (e.g., Eccles & Barber, 1999; Marsh, 1992) have reported findings based solely on the participation rates in one leisure area (i.e., extracurricular activity) (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). Bartko and Eccles (2003) note that knowing only about extracurricular

involvement, when considering other disciplines, provides a limited picture of a youths' out-of-school activities and their relations to other characteristics of adolescents' lives. Cooper, Valentine, Nye, and Lindsay (1999) found significant contributions when five activity variables were present (e.g., homework, television viewing, extracurricular activities). When controlling for age, gender, and grade level, researchers found that all five activity variables more than doubled the amount of variance explained for the measures of student achievement; thus, demonstrating the increased explanatory power gained from examining multiple activity settings (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Cooper, Valentine, Nye, & Lindsay, 1999).

Additionally, great attention has been given to the correlates of different types of activities, such as constructive, organized activities, and relaxed free time pursuits in the leisure studies field (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Larson & Kleiber, 1993). For this reason, researchers (e.g., Kleiber, 1999) have distinguished between activities that are enjoyable – but not necessarily demanding or related to the development of specific skills or competencies – and those that require effort and persistence and are thought to be more directly related to skill development and self-concept (Bartko & Eccles, 2003; Watts, Caldwell, & Gillard, 2008).

Though researchers have distinguished between constructive and passive activities, youth utilize their time in different ways. Therefore, certain activity profiles lend themselves well when specific free time situations are considered (i.e., homework, paid work). Activity profiles (e.g., sports-oriented, extracurricular) are often utilized to either identify patterns of activity involvement among adolescents or examine patterns of activity involvement and the academic, emotional, and behavioral functioning of adolescents through the implementation of a cluster analysis (Bartko & Eccles, 2003). As stated prior, utilizing more than one activity profile will

increase the explanatory power of the data set. For this reason, Bergman & El-Khouri (1995) contend that a specific grouping of profiles, outlined in a cluster analysis, is most appropriate. Cluster analyses do not assume normal distribution, unlike traditional linear approaches, and identify cases which are then grouped in a specific, organized manner (Bergman & El-Khouri, 1995). Cluster analyses take a heterogeneous set of individuals, oftentimes through self-reported measures, and groups them according to their similarity across specified variables – leaving a smaller number of mutually exclusive and exhaustive clusters (Everitt, Landau, & Leese, 2001).

This study seeks to investigate the relationship between activity profile type and motivation in free time. Past studies have examined motivation and its relationship to structured and unstructured activity participation (Fawcett, Garton, and Dandy, 2009; Watts and Caldwell, 2008). These studies have dichotomized activities based on specific elements for structured (e.g., adult-supervised, goal-directed) and unstructured (e.g., lack adult supervision and monitoring) activities. By clustering youth on specific reports of what they do in their free time, this study seeks to examine how specific patterns of behavior relate to perceptions of parent autonomy support and free time motivation. Self-determination theory provides guidance on how parenting practices work to influence motivation.

Self-Determination Theory (SDT)

Often associated with human motivation and the aspects of personality, SDT argues that if three basic psychological needs are met (i.e., competence, autonomy, relatedness), optimal functioning will occur. Though all must be satisfied to achieve optimal functioning, each resource is, in itself, of significant importance. Ryan and Deci (2000) define these inner resources in the following manner: (a) competence requires outcome control and experience mastery; (b) relatedness requires interaction, connection, and experience with others; and (c)

autonomy requires recognition of one's inner-self and acknowledgement of independence in decision making. To actualize the full potential of these resources, the social environmental is key in nurturing the needs of the individual. From a leisure-based standpoint, program participation is largely dependent on (a) overall value or (b) external coercion. Further, two types of motivation exist in current literature: intrinsic and extrinsic. Intrinsic motivation is the inherent tendency to seek out novelty and challenges in participation and is supported by the Cognitive Evaluation Theory (CET; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Extrinsic motivation is the tendency to perform an activity mainly because doing so will yield some kind of reward, benefit, or external goal outside of the behavior and is supported by the Organismic Integration Theory (OIT; Grolnick, Ryan, & Deci, 1991). One of the reasons leisure might be healthy is because experientially, youth feel positive when engaged in meaningful and personally rewarding activities. In these situations, youth typically are not bored and feel more intrinsically motivated (Weybright, Caldwell, Xie, Wegner, & Smith, 2017, pp. 3).

OIT, a sub theory of SDT (SDT; Deci & Ryan, 1985), offers a suitable framework for clarifying the inclination individuals have towards integrating subjective reasons for leisure behavior into themselves (Deci & Ryan, 1985). For this reason, different regulatory forms are aligned on a continuum of self-determination: internalization. Framed in terms of internalization, which explains the integration of the regulation for motivated behaviors, and is often supported through the contextual factors that either promote or hinder this process, OIT is characterized as a theoretical procedure in which individual reasons to engage in a certain behavior change over time. Ideally, these dynamic changes result in stronger internalization, so that the reasons to engage in a behavior become more and more part of the self (i.e., organismic integration) (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Wasserkampf & Kleinert, 2016). Internalization is a process

through which one learns to value or identify with an activity that was previously performed for an external reason (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Moody, 2012). Programs are most successful in promoting internalization when supports for the basic psychological needs of autonomy, competence, and relatedness exist (Moody, 2012; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Conversely, Ryan & Deci (2000) contend that amotivation develops when psychological needs are not met. Amotivation is disadvantageous to the adoption of new behaviors, and can ultimately thwart developmental progress (Watts & Caldwell, 2008; Larson, 2000). Many studies have used theories of self-determination and motivation as a theoretical basis because leisure motivation plays a crucial role in shaping leisure experience, associated developmental outcomes, and risky behaviors (Xie et al., 2017, pp. 319).

The Internalization Process

The central socialization goal is internalization wherein youth take in social regulations, make them their own, and eventually self-regulate autonomously (Joussemet, Landry, & Koestner, 2008). Integration is oftentimes referred to as the period where means have been evaluated and brought into congruence with one's other values and needs. As individuals internalize regulations and assimilate them to the self, they experience greater autonomy in action (Ryan & Deci, 2000) – however, the process of internalization can largely be influenced by social factors (e.g., parental units, peers, siblings). For this reason, it is important to understand the factors within the internalization continuum.

Extrinsically motivated behaviors that are the least autonomous are referred to as externally regulated. External regulation involves performing an activity to satisfy an external demand or reward contingency (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and is often prompted or valued by significant others to whom they feel attached or related (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Introjected

regulation, typically performed out of anxiety or guilt, involves taking in a regulation but not fully accepting it as one's own (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Identified regulation involves a conscious valuing of a behavioral goal — such that the action is accepted or owned as personally important (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Integrated regulation is the last form of motivation before intrinsic motivation and occurs when identified regulations are fully assimilated to the self (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The benefits of autonomous functioning have been demonstrated in different crosscultural studies and the increasing levels of internalization correlate with higher levels of well-being and less externalizing problems (Van Petegem, Beyers, Vansteenkiste, & Soenens, 2012).

The Role of Parents in Internalization

Ample research exists that suggests the significant relation between parental involvement and the internalization of behavior and motivation (Grolnick, 2016). Parental involvement largely affects children's achievement through the facilitation of motivational resources: perceived competence, perceived control, and autonomous self-regulation (Grolnick, 2016). As the most important socializing agent in adolescents' lives, parents may create an autonomy-supportive environment that promotes autonomous motivation or an autonomy-controlling environment that elicits amotivation (Mageau, Joussmet, Koestner, Moreau, & Forest, 2015). Thus, due to the varying developmental needs of adolescents, it may be appropriate for parents to adjust their level of control and supervision of their children's free time accordingly. However, the combination of autonomy support with a developmentally appropriate level of parental involvement and structure is considered ideal for fostering PYD (Grolnick, 2003; Sharp, Caldwell, Graham, & Ridenour, 2006; Soenens & Vansteenkiste, 2010). From an SDT perspective, structure should facilitate competence (Grolnick et al., 2014, pp. 360). Parental or supervisory monitoring and support are critical to ensuring that adolescents remain safe while

gradually becoming more independent (Sanders, 2013, pp. 357). Moreover, parental support is also an important determinant of adolescent participation in structured and unstructured activities. The more adolescents perceived their parents to be supportive in a particular structured leisure activity, the greater their length of participation and enjoyment (Fawcett et. al., 2009); however, too much parental involvement and control may also be detrimental to an adolescent's development of self-regulated motivation and may lead to amotivation (Sharp, Caldwell, Graham, & Ridenour, 2006). Thus, the role of parents in the internalization process is of significant importance.

REFERENCES: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW

- Bastable, S. B., & Dart, M. A. (2007). Developmental stages of the learner (2nd ed.). *Jones and Bartlett Publishers*, 1-52.
- Bergman, L. R., and El-Khouri, B. M. (1995). *SLEIPNER: A statistical package for pattern-oriented analyses* (Version 1.0) [Computer software]. Authors, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.S., & Hawkins, J.D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 591(1), 98-124.
- Coatsworth, J. D., & Conroy, D. E. (2009). The effects of autonomy-supportive coaching, need satisfaction, and self-perceptions on initiative and identity in youth swimmers.

 *Developmental Psychology, 45(2), 320-328.
- Cooper, H., Valentine, J. C., Nye, B., & Lindsay, J. (1999). Relationships between five after-school activities and academic achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(2), 369-378.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1990). Flow: the psychology of optimal experience. New York: Harper & Row.
- Darling, N., Caldwell, L. L., & Smith, R. (2005). Participation in school-based extracurricular activities and adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 37(1), 51-76.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. *American Psychologist*, 7(2).
- Eccles, J. S., & Barber, B. L. (2003). Extracurricular activities and adolescent development. *Journal of Social Issues*, 59(4), 865-889.

- Eccles, J. S., & Barber, B. L. (1999). Student council, volunteering, basketball, or marching band: what kind of extracurricular activity matters? *Journal on Adolescent Research*, 14(1), 10-43.
- Everitt, B. S., Landau, S., & Leese, M. (2001). *Cluster analysis*. London, England: Halsted Press.
- Fawcett, L. M., Garton, A. F., & Dandy, J. (2009). Role of motivation, self-efficacy and parent support in adolescent structured leisure activity participation. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 61(3), 175-182.
- Gibson, E., & Rader, N. (1979). Attention: the perceiver as performer. In G. A. Hale & M. Lewis (Eds.), *Attention and Cognitive Development* (pp. 1-21). New York, New York: Plenum Press.
- Gilman, R., Meyers, J. and Perez, L. (2004). Structured Extracurricular Activities among Adolescents: Findings and Implications for School Psychologists. *Psychology in Schools*, 41(1), 31-41.
- Grolnick, W. S. (2003). *The psychology of parental control: how well-meant parenting backfires*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Publishers.
- Grolnick, W. S. (2016). Parental involvement and children's academic motivation and achievement. *Building Autonomous Learners: Perspectives from Research and Practice using Self-Determination Theory*, (1st ed.), 169-183.
- Grolnick W. S., Farkas, M. S., Sohmer, R., Michaels, S., & Valsiner, J. (2007). Facilitating motivation in young adolescents: effects of an after-school program. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 332-344.

- Grolnick, W. S., Raftery-Helmer, J. N., Marbell, K. N., Flamm, E. S., Cardemil, E. V., & Sanchez, M. (2014). Parental provision of structure: implementation and correlates in three domains. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 60(3), 355-384.
- Grolnick, W. S., Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L. (1991). Inner resources for school achievement: motivational mediators of children's perceptions of their parents. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83(4), 508-517.
- Grolnick, W. S., & Ryan, R.M. (1989). Parent styles associated with children's self-regulation and competence in school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 41(2), 143-154.
 Hamilton, S. F., Hamilton M. A., & Pittman, K. (2004). Principles for youth development. *The*
- Youth Development Handbook: Coming of Age in American Communities, 19(1), 3-17. Harman, B., & Harms, C. (2017). Predictors of unstructured play amongst preschool children in Australia. Australian Journal of Early Childhood, 42(3), 31-37.
- Holt, N. L., Tamminen, K. A., Black, D. E., Mandigo, J. L., & Fox, K. R. (2009). Youth sport parenting styles and practices. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 31(1), 57-59.
 Hutchinson, S. L., Baldwin, C. K., & Caldwell, L. L. (2003). Differentiating parent practices related to adolescent behavior in the free time context. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 35(4), 396-422.
- Joussemet, M., Landry, R., & Koestner, R. (2008). A self-determination theory perspective on parenting. *Canadian Psychology*, 49(3), 194-200.
- Henderson, A. T., & Mapp, K. L. (2002). A new wave of evidence: The impact of school, family, and community connections on student achievement. Austin, TX: National Center for Family and Community Connections with Schools.

- Kao, T. S. A., & Salerno, J. (2014). Keeping adolescents busy with extracurricular activities. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 30(1), 57-67.
- Kleiber, D. A. (1999). Leisure experience and human development: a dialectical interpretation.

 New York, New York: Basic Books.
- Kleop, M., & Hendry, L. (2003). Adult control and adolescent challenge? Dilemmas and paradoxes in young people's leisure. *World Leisure Journal*, 45(7), 24-34.
- Larson, R. W. (2000). Towards a positive psychology of positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, 55, 170-183.
- Larson, R. W., & Kleiber, D. A. (1993). Daily experience of adolescents. In P. H. Tolan & B. J. Cohler (Eds.), *Handbook of Clinical Research and Practice with Adolescents* (pp. 125-145). New York: Wiley.
- Larson, R. W., & Verma, S. (1999). How children and adolescents spend time across the world: work, play, and developmental opportunities. *Psychological Bulletin*, 125, 701-736.
- Lyman, S., Banks, A., Hahn, A., Harding, J., Keenan, L., Ludy-Dobson, C., Phillips, S., & Smit, M. (1996). Panel A: readiness research on independent living. In E. V. Mech & J. R. Rycraft (Eds.), *Preparing Foster Youths for Adult Living: Proceedings of an Invitational Research Conference* (pp. 45-51). Washington, DC: Child Welfare League of America.
- Mageau, G. A., Ranger, F., Joussemet, M., Moreau, E., Koestner, R., & Forest, J. (2015). Validation of the perceived parental autonomy support scale (P-PASS). *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 47(3), 251-262.
- Mahoney, J. L., & Stattin, H. (2000). Leisure activities and adolescent antisocial behavior: the role of structure and social context. *Journal of Adolescence*, 23(2), 113-127.

- Malo, S., Viñas, F., González-Carrasco, M., Casas, & Alsinet, C. (2018). Assessment of free time motivation on a sample of 11 to 18-year-old Catalan speaking Spanish adolescents. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 21(24), 1-13.
- Marsh, H. (1992). Extracurricular activities: beneficial extension of the traditional curriculum of subversion academy goals. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84(4), 553-562.
- Martino, S. C., Ellickson, P. L., & McCaffrey, D. F. (2009). Multiple trajectories of peer and parental influence and their association with the development of adolescent heavy drinking. *Addictive* Behaviors, 34(8), 693-700.
- Meeks, C. B., & Mauldin, T. (1990). Children's time in structured and unstructured leisure activities. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 11(3), 257-281.
- Moody, J. J. (2012). Leisure-time physical activity participation of rural youth: a test of self-determination theory (Master's thesis). Retrieved from http://thescholarship.ecu.edu/bitstream/handle/10342/1761/Moody_ecu_0600M_10869.p df;sequence=1.
- Mundy, L. K., et al. (2013). Study protocol: the childhood to adolescence transition study (CATS). *BMC Pediatrics*, 13(160).
- Niera, C. J. (2014). Leisure time experiences in structured extracurricular activities and social networking sites predict adolescent self-concept. *Murdoch University: School of Psychology*, 5-218.
- Nollan, K. A., Wolf, M., Bums D. A. J., Barr, L., Copeland, W., & Paddock, G. (2000). Ready or not: assessing youths' preparedness for independent living. *Child Welfare*, 79(2), 159-176.

- Osgood, D. W., Anderson, A. L., & Shaffer, J. N. (2005). Unstructured leisure in the after-school hours. In J. L. Mahoney, R. W. Larson, & J. S. Eccles (Eds.), *Organized Activities as Contexts of Development: Extracurricular Activities, After-School and Community Programs* (pp. 45–64). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Pittman, K., Irby, M., Tolman, J., Yohalem, N., & Ferber, T. (2003). *Preventing problems,*promoting development, encouraging engagement: Competing priorities or inseparable goals? Washington, DC: Forum for Youth Investment.
- Roisman, G. I., Masten, A.S., Coatsworth, J.D., & Tellegen, A. (2004). Salient and emerging developmental tasks in the transition to adulthood. *Childhood Development*, 75(1), 123-133.
- Roth, J. L. & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2003). What exactly is a youth development program? answers from research and practice. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(2), 94-111.
- Ryan, R.M. & Deci, E.L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68-78.
- Ryan, R. M., & Grolnick, W. S. (1986). Origins and pawns in the classroom: self-report and projective assessments of individual differences in children's perceptions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(3), 550-558.
- Safvenbom, R., & Samdahl, D. M. (1998). Involvement in and perception of the free time context for adolescents in youth protection institutions. *Journal of Leisure Studies*, 17(3), 207-226.
- Sanders, R. A. (2013). Adolescent psychosocial, social, and cognitive development. *Pediatrics in Review*, 34(8), 354-360.

- Shannon, C. S. (2006). Parents' messages about the role of extracurricular and unstructured leisure activities: adolescents' perceptions. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 38(3), 398-420.
- Shannon, C. S. (2016). Exploring factors influencing girls' continued participation in competitive dance. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 48(4), 284-306.
- Sharp, E. H., Caldwell, L. L., Graham, J. W., Ridenour, T. A. (2006). Individual motivation and parental influence on adolescents' experiences of interest in free time: a longitudinal examination. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(3), 359-372.
- Siegler, A. L. (1997). The essential guide to the new adolescence: how to raise an emotionally healthy teenager. *Using Literature to Help Troubled Teenagers Cope with Health Issues* (1st ed.), (244)36, 101-102.
- Soenens, B., & Vansteenkiste, M. (2010). A theoretical upgrade of the concept of parental psychological control: proposing new insights on the basis of self-determination theory.

 Developmental Review, 3(1), 74-99.
- Spera, C. (2005). A review of the relationship among parenting practices, parenting styles, and adolescent school achievement. Educational Psychology Review, 17(2), 125-146.
- Strahan, D. B., L'Esperance, M, & Van Hoose, J. (2009). *Promoting harmony: young adolescent development & classroom practices*. Columbus, Ohio: National Middle School Association.
- Strawhun, J., Olson, A., Kane, L., & Peterson, R. L. (2014). Parent and Family Involvement.

 University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Turner, G., Rudz, T., & Bertolacci, L. (2018). Strength and conditioning coaching practice and positive youth athletic development: context-specific application of the developmental relationships framework. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, 40(6), 49-55.

- Vance, F. (2018). Understanding adolescents' skill building in the after-school context. *Youth & Society*, 50(7), 966-988.
- Van Petegem, S., Beyers, W., Vansteenkiste, M., & Soenens, B. (2012). On the association between adolescent autonomy and psychosocial functioning: examining decisional independence from a self-determination theory perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(1), 76-88.
- Wasserkampf, A., & Kleinert, J. (2016). Organismic integration as a dynamic process: a systematic review of empirical studies on change in behavioral regulations in exercise in adults. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, (9)1, 65-95.
- Watts, C. E., & Caldwell, L. L. (2008). Self-determination and free time activity participation as predictors of initiative. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 40(1), 156-181.
- Watts, C.E., Caldwell, L.L., & Gillard, A. (2008, March). Activity profiles and relationships with parenting perceptions, adolescent motivation and initiative. *Society of Research on Adolescence's Biennial Research Conference*.
- Weybright, E. H., Caldwell, L. L., Ram, N., Smith, E. A., & Wegner, L. (2015). Trajectories of adolescent substance use development and the influence of healthy leisure: A growth mixture modeling approach. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49(1), 158-169.
- Weybright, E. H., Caldwell, L. L., Xie, H., Wegner, L., & Smith, E. A. (2017). Perceived parental control, restructuring ability, and leisure motivation: a cross-cultural comparison. *Leisure Sciences*, 39(4), 319-335.
- Winstanley, E. L., Steinwachs, D. M., Stitzer, M. L., & Fishman, M. J. (2012). Adolescent substance abuse and mental health: problem co-occurrence and access to services. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse*, (21)4, 310-322.

Xie, H., Caldwell, L. L., Graham, J. W., Weybright, E. H., Wegner, L., & Smith E. A. (2016).

Perceived parental control, restructuring ability, and leisure motivation: a cross-cultural comparison. *Leisure Sciences*, 39(4), 319-335.

APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



EAST CAROLINA UNIVERSITY
University & Medical Center Institutional Review Board
4N-64 Brody Medical Sciences Building- Mail Stop 682
600 Moye Boulevard · Greenville, NC 27834
Office 252-744-2914 @ · Fax 252-744-2284 @ ·

rede.ecu.edu/umcirb/

Not Human Subject Research Certification

 From:
 Social/Behavioral IRB

 To:
 Isaiah Lubben

 CC:
 Clifton Watts

 Date:
 11/21/2019

 Re:
 UMCIRB 19-000623

 Social/Behavioral IRB

On 11/21/19, the IRB Staff reviewed your proposed research and determined that it does not meet the federal definitions of research involving human participants, as applied by East Carolina University.

Therefore, it is with this determination that you may proceed with your research activity and no further action will be required. However, if you should want to modify your research activity, you must submit notification to the IRB before amending or altering this research activity to ensure that the proposed changes do not require additional UMCIRB review.

The UMCIRB appreciates your dedication to the ethical conduct of research. It is your responsibility to ensure that this research is being conducted in accordance with University policies and procedures, the ethical principles set forth in the Belmont Report, and the ethical standards of your profession. If you have questions or require additional information, please feel free to contact the UMCIRB office at 252-744-2914.

The Chairperson (or designee) does not have a potential for conflict of interest on this study.

IRB00000705 East Carolina U IRB #1 (Biomedical) IORG0000418 IRB00003781 East Carolina U IRB #2 (Behavioral/SS) IORG0000418

Study.PI Name: Study.Co-Investigators: